

## Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2016

# Exploring the Influence of Management Communication Behaviors on Employee Engagement

Alicia J. Hart Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations Part of the <u>Communication Commons</u>

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

## Alicia Hart

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Anne Davis, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Annie Brown, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Kathleen Barclay, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer Eric Riedel, Ph.D.

Walden University 2016

Abstract

Exploring the Influence of Management Communication Behaviors on Employee

Engagement

by

Alicia Janee Hart

MBA, Strayer University, 2010

BS, Hampton University, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2016

#### Abstract

An engaged workforce can increase organizational productivity and decrease employee turnover. Current research on employee engagement exists, yet little research exists on how the communication behaviors of management affect employee engagement. Guided by the conceptual framework of systems theory and communications theory, an exploration of the influence of management communication behaviors on employee engagement was conducted. A descriptive research design helped explore the influence of management communication behaviors on employee engagement within local, government entities of the Tidewater, Virginia, area. Data included semistructured interviews with 23 participants (11 managers and 12 employees). Data analysis occurred using the modified van Kaam method, which resulted in 4 emergent themes including (a) open, respectful, and transparent communication; (b) positive communication promoted an engaged workforce; (c) favorable communication increased engagement; and (d) negative communication decreased engagement. The results of the study may contribute to positive social change by providing managers a tool to reduce turnover in organizations, which, in turn, may lower the local unemployment rate. Indicators of economic cycles with low rates of unemployment include greater economic activity, stronger demand for workers, and a higher demand for goods and services. A lower unemployment rate may lessen the overall burden on government and society.

## Exploring the Influence of Management Communication Behaviors on Employee

Engagement

by

Alicia Janee Hart

MBA, Strayer University, 2010

BS, Hampton University, 2004

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2016

## Dedication

This study is dedicated to my mother, for her unwavering love, guidance and encouragement without which I could not have achieved this goal.

### Acknowledgments

I would like to thank God, for without His guidance I would not have been able to complete this journey. I would like to thank my parents, Elton and Julie Gibbs and Anthony Hart for instilling the importance of education in my heart from a young age. I would also like to thank the Walden University faculty and staff for all of the support offered to me during this process. I would like to extend a special thank you to Dr. Anne Davis; the positive and continual feedback allowed me to finish this study without much frustration.

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	2
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	8
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	9
Assumptions	9
Limitations	9
Delimitations	
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	
Implications for Social Change	11
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Theories	13
Managerial Communication	
Managerial Communication Behaviors	19

## Table of Contents

Managerial Interpersonal Skills	
Crisis Communication Behaviors	24
Employee Engagement	
Transition	36
Section 2: The Project	
Purpose Statement	
Role of the Researcher	39
Participants	40
Research Method and Design	42
Research Method	42
Research Design	45
Population and Sampling	48
Ethical Research	51
Data Collection Instruments	53
Data Collection Technique	54
Data Organization Technique	58
Data Analysis	59
Reliability and Validity	65
Reliability	65
Validity	67
Transition and Summary	68
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	69

Introduction	69
Presentation of the Findings	69
Emergent Theme 1: Open, Respectful, and Transparent Communication	71
Emergent Theme 2: Positive Communication Promotes an Engaged	
Workforce	73
Emergent Theme 3: Favorable Communication Increases Engagement	74
Emergent Theme 4: Negative Communication Decreases Engagement	76
Applications to Professional Practice	79
Implications for Social Change	81
Recommendations for Action	81
Recommendations for Further Research	83
Summary and Study Conclusions	85
References	87
Appendix A: Interview Questions	110

## List of Tables

Table 1. Professional Affliations of Participants	. 71
Table 2. Effective Organizational Communication	.72
Table 3. Positive Communication Effect on Worker Engagement.	.74
Table 4. Ways Positive Communication Affects Worker Engagement	.75
Table 5. Effects of Negative Communication on Worker Engagement	.77

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Organizational leaders identified employee engagement as a primary concern for organizational leadership (Christian, Garza, & Slaughter, 2011; Harter & Blacksmith, 2010; Saks, 2006). Researchers in the field of worker engagement have identified communication, primarily between manager and employee, as a primary driver of employee engagement (Gerst, 2013). From a business perspective, a direct relationship between managerial communication and employee engagement may exist, as well as a need for leaders to understand if leadership communication behaviors may optimize employee engagement. In the study, I explored how leadership communication affected employee engagement.

#### **Background of the Problem**

Business leaders identified improving employee engagement within organizations as a central priority in leadership (Christian et al., 2011). Well-organized communications systems contribute to employee satisfaction and engagement within organizations (Aburge, 2011). Managers should communicate effectively with their subordinates; however, many workers do not believe their direct supervisors are effective communicators (Neves & Eisenberger, 2012). A lack of productive communication in the manager-employee relationship can lead to low employee engagement and thus affect organizational success and sustainability (Neves & Eisenberger, 2012). The ability to lead and inspire employees to accomplish organizational objectives is a facet of managerial communication (Neves & Eisenberger, 2012). For this reason, organizational leaders should pay close attention to managerial communication behaviors, styles, and delivery and their effects on worker engagement.

#### **Problem Statement**

The inability among managerial staff to establish a connection with their workforce through effective communication can lead to organizational chaos, low productivity, and decreased profitability (Bisel, Messersmith, & Kelley, 2012). Organizational leaders who focus on soft skills, including communication, enjoy 85% higher profits compared with those in firms who are least effective at communicating with their employees (Robles, 2012). The general business problem was that a lack of effective managerial communication deterred organizational profit and created an environment of mistrust between the workforce and management (Timmins, 2011). The specific business problem was that managers often lack skills or strategies for effective communication behaviors with employees, which may ultimately improve employee engagement and organizational productivity.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to explore the effective communication behaviors that managers use to improve employee engagement and organizational productivity. Data collection included 23 semistructured interviews with open-ended questions among 11 managers and 12 nonmanagerial employees from local government public entities in the Tidewater, Virginia, area. The 11 managerial interviews consisted of those in a midlevel managerial capacity; entry level managers and senior management personnel were not included. This population was appropriate for

research pertaining to managerial communication and employee engagement due to their experience with managerial communication and their ability to discuss their experiences surrounding the effect of communication on their organizations.

The results from this study may influence social change by giving business leaders insight into how effective communication practices between managers and their subordinates may improve overall employee engagement and thus increase organizational productivity. The findings from this study may also provide business leaders with examples of strategies that may prevent an adverse shift in organizational climate due to poor communication behaviors.

#### Nature of the Study

I used a qualitative, descriptive approach when conducting this study. The descriptive ideal involved detailing the human experience pertaining to a phenomenon from the view of the participant (Bickman & Rog, 1998). In quantitative methodology, measurements of variables occur so that the quantitative data can be analyzed using statistical procedures and means (Yin, 2014). Quantitative methodology was not appropriate for this study because I did not test an experimental hypothesis. Mixed-methods research methodology was not appropriate for this study because it combined both qualitative and quantitative forms (Golicic & Davis, 2012). I was seeking to understand the phenomenon of employee engagement and leadership communication. Because I did not use the quantitative method in any form in this research, a mixed methods was not the appropriate method for my research question.

As indicated by Bickman and Rog (1998), the central benefit of the descriptive research design is that it allows researchers to interview a subject about experiences in their natural environment. A descriptive research design was appropriate because the focus of this study was on the experiences and perceptions of participants regarding communications occurring in an organizational setting. I considered using a phenomenological design for this study because phenomenology allows researchers to explore how individuals construct meaning concerning events, in a time-bound manner in a particular social context (Yin, 2014). I chose not to use a phenomenological design because the focus of the study was not on a particular phenomenon but rather on the ongoing phenomenon of communication behavior. I considered a case study design for this study but opted not to use this design. A case is an object studied for a specific reason that is peculiar or particular (Hyett, Kenny, & Dickson-Swift, 2014). Although a case study design could have worked for this study. I chose not to use a case study design due to documented concerns regarding credibility within qualitative research (Hyett et al., 2014). Grounded theory design is among the most frequently used designs within qualitative research (Timmermans & Tavory, 2012). My decision not to use grounded theory design in the study centered on the fact that generating a theory was not the principal aim of my research. Narrative design focuses on studying an individual and collecting data through stories, which creates a story about the individual's experience and the meaning he or she attributes to them (Timmermans & Tavory, 2012). I did not use narrative design in the study because I did not want to focus on a sole individual's experience.

#### **Research Question**

Alvesson and Sandberg (2011) stated that the point of the central research question is to narrow the purpose to a number of questions within the study. The goal of this research was to determine how the use of effective communication behaviors by organizational leadership affects employee engagement. Hence, the central research question for this study was: What communication behaviors do managers use with their employees to improve employee engagement and productivity?

#### **Interview Questions**

The data collection technique for the study was an interview. I used the interview questions to collect the data needed to answer the research question. I used two sets of questions: one for employees and one for managers. The interview questions are below, as well as in Appendix A:

#### **Employee Questions**

- 1. Based on your personal experiences, how do you think employees within your organization communicate effectively?
- 2. Based on your personal experiences, how would you describe effective communication between an employee and their immediate supervisor within your organization?
- How has positive communication between you and your immediate supervisor affected your engagement at work? Please provide an example.
- 4. Does increased communication and/or interaction with your immediate supervisor influence your engagement at work? How?

5. What other ways has communication with your supervisor affected your engagement at work?

#### Manager Questions

- 1. Based on your personal experiences, how do you think employees within your organization communicate effectively?
- 2. Based on your personal experiences, how would you describe effective communication between a manager and their employee(s) within your organization?
- How has positive communication between you and your employee(s) affected your engagement at work? Please provide an example.
- 4. Does increased communication and/or interaction with your employee(s) influence your engagement at work? How?
- 5. What other ways has communication with your employee(s) affected your engagement at work?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The theories relevant to this study were systems theory and communications theory. Systems theory is an alternative approach to (a) understanding, (b) planning, and (c) managing organizations (Ingram, 2013). Systems theory can provide a new perspective for approaching employee engagement through effective communication, offering managers the opportunity to understand the significance of communication on overall employee engagement. Communications theory follows the idea that human behavior connects to heredity and the environment, which includes (a) past experiences, (b) present circumstances, and (c) future expectations of all the parties involved in information transfer (Duncan, 1973).

von Bertalanffy created general systems theory in 1936, and it was originally intended for the science field; since then, the theory evolved and became relevant to other disciplines (Kast & Rosenzweig, 1972). von Bertalanffy was both reacting against reductionism and trying to breathe life into the unity of science (Kast & Rosenzweig, 1972). He emphasized that real systems are open to, and network with, their environments and that real systems can attain qualitatively novel properties through materialization, resulting in continual evolution (von Bertalanffy, 1950).

Systems theory was applicable to this study of managerial communication techniques and employee engagement because organizational success depends on (a) synergy, (b) interrelations, and (c) codependence between different subsystems (von Bertalanffy, 1950). One of the most important elements of an organization, employees compose a vital subsystem that drives organizational success (Ingram, 2013). In this study, the two relevant subsystems were managers and the workforce. The ideas of systems theory that were relevant to the study were (a) leadership communication is integral to employee engagement and (b) employee/manager relations are a vital component of an organizational entity (Ingram, 2013).

Communications theory embraces the thought that the environmental context within which a message is sent and received can significantly influence the fidelity of communication (Duncan, 1973). In any human communication system, forces emerge that inhibit effective meaning transfer (Duncan, 1973). Within a communication system,

mutual understanding is key (Duncan, 1973). Duncan carefully observed that mutual understanding means that an individual responds to communication in a manner relative to his ends. Therefore, when employees and managers understand each other they respond to one another in a more productive, collaborative manner (Duncan, 1973).

#### **Operational Definitions**

The definitions provided below ensure the reader has a precise understanding of the context of the terms within the study, avoiding any confusion with any term definitions in other scholarly works.

*Communication*. Garcia (2012) defined *communication* as an act of will directed toward an existing entity that reacts. Effective communication is intended, goal-oriented, and coherent (Garcia, 2012).

*Communication competence*. Keyton et al. (2013) defined *communication competence* as communication effectiveness within an organizational setting.

*Engagement*. Mone, Eisinger, Guggenheim, Price, and Stine (2011) defined *engagement* as an employee's sense of reason and focused energy which is evident to others through the efforts of personal initiative, flexibility, and diligence directed toward the organization's goals.

*Employee*. Rodell et al. (2016) defined *employee* based on the Internal Revenue Service's terms and definitions. Rodell et al. classified employees in two ways; common-law and statutory employee. A common-law employee is any individual who performs services for an employer and controls the completion date of the activity (Rodell et al., 2016). A statutory employee is any officer of an organization or any person who, under the usual common law rules used to determine the employer-employee relationship, has the status of an employee (Rodell et al., 2016). For the purposes of this study, the statutory employee definition was appropriate.

*Manager*. Boykins, Campbell, Moore, and Nayyar (2013) defined *manager* as an individual who implements the management process. Boykins et al. (2013) noted that a manager is one who builds a rapport with employees, promotes teamwork, and has the desire to further organizational goals.

#### Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

#### Assumptions

An assumption is a fact considered true but not verified (Martin & Parmar, 2012). There were three assumptions with this study:

- 1. All interview participants will be open and honest in their responses to the questions asked (Anyan, 2013).
- 2. The interview questions are relevant for this study and participant responses should provide the necessary information needed to answer the research question posed.
- The sample population selected for this study will provide information via the interview relevant to the study topic and contribute to the overall business knowledge of this topic.

#### Limitations

Potential weaknesses in the study are limitations (Yeatman, Trinitapoli, &

Hayford, 2013). There were two limitations in this study:

- 1. The sample population interviewed will be limited to those who respond to the interview request.
- 2. The validity of the findings relies upon the responses received during the interview process.

#### Delimitations

Delimitations are the bounds or scope of the study (Thomas, Silverman, &

Nelson, 2015). There were two delimitations within this study.

- The scope of the study is limited to the Tidewater, Virginia, area. Tidewater includes the cities of Chesapeake, Hampton, Newport News, Norfolk, Suffolk, Portsmouth, and Virginia Beach, Virginia.
- 2. The boundaries of the study include interviewing those in managerial and subordinate nonmanagerial capacities.

#### Significance of the Study

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

My intent was to produce insight on how effective communication behaviors of managers within an organization can affect employee engagement, in addition to positively affecting overall organizational climate and organizational productivity. The results of the study may contribute to improved communication practices within organizations, particularly between subordinates and the managers to whom they report. The results of the study revealed how communication affects the manager-employee relationship, which in turn may influence overall organizational performance. If the participant responses demonstrate a connection between managerial communication and employee engagement, organizations may make the decision to focus more attention and training on the topic of managerial communication.

Business leaders may gain insight regarding the influence of communication behaviors, both effective and ineffective, on overall employee engagement. The application of beneficial business lessons may occur when business leaders gain an understanding of how managerial communication affects employee engagement. This understanding, in turn, could lead to improved employee engagement and a more productive organization as a whole.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The findings of the doctoral study have the potential to influence social change. A productive organization may contribute further to society in a positive manner. If employees engage in their work, turnover within an organization may decrease (Siddiqi, 2013). Lower turnover in organizations may lower the national unemployment rate; as employees perform better, a reduction in turnover (voluntary or involuntary) may occur. A lower unemployment rate may lessen the overall burden on government and society.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The research question for this study was: How do effective managerial communication techniques contribute to employee engagement within an organization? Employee engagement remains a critical concern for organizations, and thus organizational leaders are under increasing pressure to ensure their workforce remains engaged (Kapoor & Meachem, 2012). Managers face the challenge of keeping their employees engaged using effective communication techniques.

The purpose of this literature review was to provide an overview of relevant studies addressing (a) managerial communication, (b) communication theories, and (c) employee engagement. I used journal articles, books, and other scholarly sources within this study, with 85% of the 175 total sources published between 2012 and 2016. In addition, 91% of the 175 total sources are peer-reviewed. Of the total 175 total sources, I used 77 sources within the literature review, of which 71 (92.2%) were peer-reviewed articles and 69 (89.6%) were published between 2012 and 2016. In addition, the literature review included four seminal sources (5%) and two non-peer-reviewed articles (2.5%). I accessed source information through the Walden University library (using databases such as ProQuest and EBSCOhost), as well as from Google Scholar and other university library sources. While conducting the search for peer-reviewed sources, I used the terms *communication, employee engagement, communication theories, communication techniques, managerial communication*, and *organizational communication*.

I focused the literature review on two main themes: (a) managerial communication, and (b) employee engagement. The first section includes an overview of managerial communication. This section covers the (a) importance of managerial communication within organizations, (b) various managerial communication techniques, and (c) managerial communication with employees. A review of employee engagement (to include factors of engagement) occurs in the second section. This section includes studies that delve into (a) employee engagement within organizations, (b) what causes employees to disengage, and (c) how communication plays a role in overall engagement.

#### Theories

The two theories that I used as a foundation for this study relating to managerial communication were systems theory and communications theory. von Bertalanffy (1950) was the creator of systems theory and stressed that real systems work in conjunction with their surroundings. In addition, von Bertalanffy noted systems could attain qualitatively original properties through materialization, resulting in continual evolution. Rather than reducing an entity to the properties of its parts or essentials, systems theory focuses on the collection of and relations between the parts that attach them into a whole (Kast & Rosenzweig, 1972). Mulej et al. (2004) suggested that there are seven principles of systems theory thinking relevant to organizations. The seven principles include (a) interdependence; (b) relations; (c) openness; (d) interconnectedness; (e) complexity; (f) attractors; and (g) synergy, system, and synthesis.

Buble (2012) noted that interdependence related to the various systems within an organization that can work autonomously to complete a task. Buble stated that the ability for departments to work together toward a common goal was the foremost aspect of the principle of relations. When an organization allows employees to express suggestions and viewpoints, openness and interconnectedness occur (Mulej et al., 2004). Mulej et al. mentioned that the complicated decisions organizations make at times referred to the complexity of the organization. Attractors are any influential force within the organization (Mulej et al., 2004). When relations between groups within an organization lead to new ideas and momentum, there is evidence of synergy, systems, and synthesis

(Mulej et al., 2004). Mulej et al. explained that the seven principles allows for a holistic view of systems thinking, which previous authors had not noted.

Duncan (1973) asserted that communications theory embraces the notion that the environmental context within which a message is delivered and received can have significant influences on the fidelity of communication. Ludwig et al. (2014) furthered research on communication theory with the discussion of communication accommodation. Ludwig et al. explained that that during communication, individuals will try to accommodate or change their style of speaking to others. Change of communication style is accomplished in two ways: divergence and convergence. Groups who identify strongly with their race or ethnicity frequently use divergence to highlight group identity. Convergence occurs when there is a strong need for social acceptance, frequently from powerless individuals. Within organizations, individuals will often practice convergence rather than divergence (Ludwig et al., 2014).

In contrast to the concepts of divergence or convergence with regard to communication, Ng and Feldman (2013) discussed symbolic interaction in regards to communication theory. Ng and Feldman suggested that individuals are motivated to act based on the meanings they assign to (a) others, (b) things, and (c) occurrences. Further, meaning includes the language that people use both with (a) friends and family, (b) colleagues, and (c) in private thought (Ng & Feldman, 2013). Ng and Feldman concluded that language and communication allow people to develop a sense of self and to interact with others in the community.

#### **Managerial Communication**

Communication is woven into the fabric of most organizational structures. Within an organization, communication is a primary component of organizational success (Emanoil, Ramona, & Lucia, 2013). Members of an organization spend the bulk of their time communicating with one another; this is particularly true of manager and subordinate communication (Emanoil et al., 2013). Further, communication within an organization is a network activity. Hossain, Murshed, and Uddin (2013) contended that an organizational communication system is a professional set of relationships between individuals within an organization. The flow of organizational information creates various types of communicative relationships among the participating entities (Hossain et al., 2013). The communication relationships eventually create an overall pattern within the organization (Hossain et al., 2013).

Understanding the effect that managerial communication has on employee engagement is paramount to organizational success, as a breakdown in communication can lead to reduced productivity throughout the organization (Bisel et al., 2012). However, Emanoil et al. (2013) indicated that not all companies have fully understood the role of communication, being that managers tend to focus on obtaining immediate profit rather than on other aspects of a successful organization, such as the influence of communication on employee performance and engagement.

Voinea, Busu, Opran, and Vladutescu (2015) stated that managerial communication is not only the art of conveying and understanding information but also the art of allowing employees to understand management decisions that propel employees to meet organizational objectives. Mahajan, Bishop, and Scott (2012) agreed with Voinea et al. (2015), and defined *top management communication* as the extent of lucidity and wholeness in the messages sent by organizational leadership to employees. Employee involvement is the level to which employees supply significant inputs into company choices (Mahajan et al., 2012). Mahajan et al. theorized that organizational leadership communication and employee contribution are useful in synchronizing employee efforts and in encouraging employees to achieve organizational objectives.

Whereas Mahajan et al. (2012) viewed communication as a managerial responsibility, Uusi-Rauva and Nurkka (2010) discussed communication with employees as a corporate responsibility. Uusi-Rauva and Nurkka outlined the types of internal messages pertaining to a company's environment-related corporate social responsibility (CSR) that would be most effectual in engaging employees. Uusi-Rauva and Nurkka studied how environmentally active employees are internal communicators, used to spread environmental activity within the organization. Uusi-Rauva and Nurkka noted the importance of assisting managers with understanding how they can communicate effectively to encourage all employees to consider the environment in their jobs. Adleman (2012) completed a study pertaining to communication in an attempt to understand specific chief executive officer (CEO) communication behaviors and actions in relation to promoting upward employee communication. Although CEOs differ from frontline managers, they often set the tone for managerial communication within an organization (Adleman, 2012). Adleman described the act of encouraging communication within the work environment as beneficial to organizational culture.

An aspect of encouraging effective managerial communication is to ensure that communication flows correctly throughout the organization (Deepa & Karthikeyan, 2012). A central component of directing employees is communication methodology and strategy used within an organization (Deepa & Karthikeyan, 2012). Deepa and Karthikeyan (2012) researched best practices needed to achieve long-term success within an organization. The primary responsibility of managerial communication is to (a) improve, (b) connect, and (c) direct the capacity and energy of their employees toward worthy and valuable ends (Deepa & Karthikeyan, 2012). Daniela (2013) defined internal *communication* as the communication stream between individuals within the boundaries of an organization. Daniela stated that effective managerial communication in conjunction with efficient management practices provided a level of safety in any domain of activity within an organization. Organizational communication is not visible outside of the ranks of management yet represents a fundamental component of organizational success (Daniela, 2013). The lack of communication can lead to changes in organizational management on one hand and, on the other, the lack of skills and organizational culture regarding these components invalidates the communication process (Daniela, 2013).

In agreement with Daniela's (2013) research, Polito (2013) also stressed the importance of effective communication during difficult conversations. Polito mentioned that an interest and need exists to improve the skills of conducting difficult conversations in the workplace. Theories and strategies abound, yet none seems to have found the magic formula with universal appeal and success. Polito stated that best practices and

evidence-based management guide organizations to the decision that quality improvement dictates effective communication, even when difficult. Polito noted that mastering the skills of conducting difficult conversations is critical to keeping lines of communication open and productive. Polito concluded that communication between managers and employees that is successful might help to avert confrontation through employee (a) engagement, (b) commitment, and (c) appropriate corresponding behavior. Riddell (2013) varied slightly from Polito's opinion regarding conducting difficult conversations. Whereas Polito expressed the thought that best practices contributed to success when delivering a challenging message, Riddell suggested that despite how well crafted the message may seem, the conversation will only be well received by an engaged workforce.

Iyer and Israel (2012) expressed that managerial communication tends to be more noticeable during times of crisis. Iyer and Israel investigated the role communication satisfaction has on overall employee engagement. The frame of reference used involves communication techniques used during crises, such as the recent global recession. Iyer and Israel examined various components of organizational communication and how those elements influence factors of employee engagement. Iyer and Israel concluded that organization communication has a positive effect on overall employee engagement. Lowe (2012) furthered the discussion of the connection between organizational communication and employee engagement. Lowe asserted that human resources departments increasingly use organizational communication as a metric in measuring employee engagement, evidence that communication is a factor of employee engagement.

Grandien and Johanson (2012) investigated the development and growth of the communication management purpose in organizations in relation to the concept of institutionalization. The role of communication by executives and managers fluctuates between organizations and can change within an organization (Grandien & Johanson, 2012). Grandien and Johanson conceptualized institutionalization of communication management as a process and developed a speculative framework that integrated significant factors that influenced and standardized the process. The factors that Grandien and Johanson studied included (a) organizational structure, (b) social capital, and (c) perceptions of the management profession. Grandien and Johanson concluded that the institutionalization of the communication process within organizations influences the development of the managerial communication process. Einwiller and Boenjik (2012) supported the findings of Grandien and Johanson, explaining that organizations whose leadership encourages communication management are more successful in the communications realm than organizations that do not support communication management.

#### **Managerial Communication Behaviors**

There are various communication behaviors that managers may use when (a) directing, (b) counseling, and (c) encouraging employees (Dasgupta, Suar, & Singh, 2013). Dasgupta et al. mentioned that the behavior used by management may play a critical role in the supervisor-employee relationship, to include possibly affecting the engagement level of the employee. I reviewed managerial communication behaviors commonly used in organizations in the next section.

Business leaders place value on communication behaviors used in managerial communication (Kirzinger, Weber, & Johnson, 2012). Kirzinger et al. found that the communication behaviors of leaders acted as a predictor of management decisions and actions. Hassan and Hatmaker (2012) investigated managerial communication behavior and the manager-subordinate relationship. The manager-subordinate communication relationship is a function of the quantity and quality of interactions examined in terms of communication constructs (Hassan & Hatmaker, 2012). Hassan & Hatmaker concluded that using effective managerial communication behaviors with employees creates a harmonious working relationship.

Miller (2013) reviewed the role organizational demographics played in managerial communication behavior. Miller discussed how evolving demographics within an organization could change managerial communication behavior. Changing demographics result in (a) a multi-cultural workforce, (b) employees with the increasing responsibility of caring for aging family members, and (c) employees with varied sexual orientations, races, ages, and genders (Miller, 2013). All of the noted changes force managers to find ways to communicate the organizational message in such a way that all employees can understand and relate to the message (Miller, 2013).

Smith (2012) discussed communication behaviors that are useful in the organizational setting, to include those from a managerial perspective. Smith documented information on integrated communication management from its existing debates on definitions and models to research-based understanding of how integration functions. Smith also investigated how communication management works at an

organization with a high level of incorporation. Smith sought to provide insights for communication managers on implementing thriving integrated communication programs. Smith conducted a qualitative single case study of an ideal company case of integrated communication, using three data sources: in-depth interviews, participant observation, and document analysis. Smith elaborated that communication integration, from the standpoint of managerial communication, operates naturally through cross-functional connections and knowledge sharing, and utilizes an open company structure in which integration occurs organically.

Waldeck, Durante, Helmuth, and Marcia (2012) continued the conversation of communication behaviors managers use that leads to organizational success. Waldeck et al. (2012) identified six core competencies for effective communication to include (a) relational and interpersonal skills, (b) mediated communication skills, (c) intergroup communication competence, (d) ability to communicate with enthusiasm, (e) nonverbal communication skills, and (f) speaking and listening skills.

Kiyomiya (2012) examined aspects of the method and approach of honest leadership communication. Kiyomiya noted that organizational deception allowed an organization to (a) conceal, (b) manipulate, and (c) distort information. Kiyomiya stressed the importance of managers being forthright when communicating instead of employing deceptive techniques. Managers should use the communication techniques of being (a) clear, (b) concise, (c) honest, and (d) consistent in daily interactions with employees (Kiyomiya, 2012). In addition, Men (2012) mentioned that employees preferred face-to-face, personal communication. Employees favored the in-person communication channel due to the belief that deceit or honesty becomes evident during face-to-face communication (Men, 2012).

Burris (2012) investigated the connection between managerial response to personnel who voiced concerns and the type of voice exhibited by the employee. Burris defined voice as whether or not employees selected to express opinions in a challenging or supportive manner. Burris stated that managers had a tendency to categorize employees who spoke in a challenging manner as bad performers who put their needs above the goals of the organization. Burris also described that managers felt the opposite regarding employees who spoke in a supportive tone while expressing ideas to management. Burris concluded when a manager is aware of employee voice, managers can further shape effective communication behaviors. Burris, Detert, & Romney (2013) also expressed the importance of employee voice within an organization. Burris, Detert, & Romney (2013) indicated that an employer, in exchange for granting workers the opportunity to use employee voice, can engage employees by facilitating better communication between management and staff. Grant (2013) continued the conversation on the connection between management communication and employee voice. Grant asserted that intense emotions such as (a) frustration, (b) anger, and (c) dissatisfaction often drive employees to use their voice. Yet the very emotions that spur employees to express voice may compromise the ability to do so constructively, preventing managers from reacting favorably (Grant, 2013).

#### **Managerial Interpersonal Skills**

A manager's interpersonal skills also play an integral part of communication behaviors. Khan and Ahmad (2012) analyzed managerial interpersonal skills (ability to motivate, communicate, and build a team) and their effectiveness at different levels of management. Khan and Ahmad found that a manager's ability to motivate employees via communication is a vital interpersonal skill. Continuing the discussion of interpersonal skills, Robles (2012) investigated the importance of soft skills in leadership, to include communication. Robles discussed the point that soft skills are internal qualities, better known as people skills, and personal attributes that an individual possesses.

Organizational leaders consider soft skills an attribute in job applicants, particularly those within the realm of management (Robles, 2012). Robles identified these top 10 soft skills as essential to business executives. Robles concluded that (a) integrity, (b) communication, (c) courtesy, (d) responsibility, (e) social skills, (f) positive attitude, (g) professionalism, (h) flexibility, (i) teamwork, and (j) work ethic were the top 10 desired soft skills in managerial employees.

The effectiveness of managerial communication behaviors within an organization may be a component of overall organizational well-being. Kyriazis, Couchman, and Johnson (2012) investigated the psychosocial antecedents of communication, trust, and relationship effectiveness. Kyriazis et al. conducted research on the connection between how managers communicate new product development projects to staff members and the effect on overall organizational effectiveness. Kyriazis et al. indicated that communicators must develop individual knowledge and skills to be efficient in contributing to organizational effectiveness. Lee (2012) provided a similar viewpoint regarding communication and the assessment made that communication techniques are an aspect of organizational success. Lee noted that with successful organizational communication, company performance increased as employees willingly adapted to organizational changes.

Hamdi and Rajablu (2012) focused on the function of supervisor-worker communication and leadership style on organizational commitment of nursing personnel in the selected hospital. A total of 134 members of nursing staff of a major hospital in Tehran, Iran completed a questionnaire on communication and leadership style (Hamdi & Rajablu, 2012). Hamdi and Rajablu mentioned a noteworthy contribution of communication exchange in effective commitment, considering that mutual communication showed a significant contribution in affective commitment. Hamdi and Rajablu concluded that shaping managerial communication techniques include the consideration given to the importance of communication with subordinates and the overall quality of leadership within the organization.

#### **Crisis Communication Behaviors**

Managerial communication behaviors are evident in times of crisis (Creelman, 2012). Creelman researched best methods of how to compose and communicate negative messages within an organization. Creelman mentioned that a debate revolves around whether or not to use a direct or indirect approach when having to deliver bad news to employees and stakeholders. Many managers favored an indirect approach, wanting to streamline the information before giving a message to the masses (Creelman, 2012).

Garcia (2012), in agreement with Creelman, elaborated on how managers can use their communication behaviors to plan for a desired reaction out of their employees. Garcia investigated the effect of open communication with employees, specifically in times of crises.

When organization leadership fails to communicate properly with employees, especially in times of crises or disaster, there are consequences that often are irreversible. Garcia (2012) referred to communication as a discipline organizational leadership masters to avoid the perils of poor interaction between company leadership and subordinate employees. Garcia concluded that effective communication behaviors include learning two critical skills; (a) gaining current and thorough knowledge of the intended audience (i.e., employees), and (b) understanding how to deliver the message to achieve the desired reaction.

Mazzei and Ravanzzani (2011) examined the success of in-house organizational communication during a calamity by reviewing how Italian companies communicated to employees during the 2008–2009 international financial crises. Mazzei and Ravanzzani used interviews with business communication leaders and employees and drew data from two participant groups and a survey involving internal communicators. Mazzei and Ravanzzani indicated a missing connection between what organizational leaders meant to communicate and what employees perceived. For example, communication managers (a) designed excellent communication strategies, (b) made extensive use of authorized instruments, and (c) depicted the crisis as an opening to increased success. Mazzei and Ravanzzani concluded that effective managerial communication behaviors include sound

listening skills and the delivery of a clear message that the audience can understand. Furthering the position of Mazzei and Ravanzzani, Veil and Husted (2012) expanded upon crises communication behaviors. Communication with (a) compassion, (b) honesty, (c) candor, and (d) openness are all best practices effective managers utilize when delivering messages during a crisis.

# **Employee Engagement**

Sharma and Kaur (2014) described employee engagement as an approach to organizational success. Sharma and Kaur explained how employee engagement (a) contributed to organizational performance, (b) improved profitability, (c) led to customer satisfaction, (d) allowed employees to make a noteworthy contribution to the organization, and (e) improved long-term financial performance of an organization. Church (2013) asserted that employee engagement is the *Holy Grail* of organizational success and for this reason should be a priority for managers. Human capital is an asset, as employee effort and performance determine business success (Handa & Gulati, 2014). Situational and personal antecedents influence an individual's performance in the workplace; as a result, managers need to understand the forces behind employee engagement (Handa & Gulati, 2014).

Ho, Wong, and Lee (2011) explained that an employee has to possess two types of passions for full work engagement; harmonious passion and obsessive passion. Ho et al. further detailed that passion is a strong inclination towards an activity that employees find significant. Berens (2013) noted three elements of employee engagement; (a) management understood what mattered most to employees, (b) an awareness of what created positive employee engagement, and (c) the ability for an organization to see the big picture in regards to keeping employees engaged. Sahoo and Mishra (2012) described employee engagement as the primary concept for understanding and improving individual and organizational performance. Employee engagement is vital because organizations are demanding more from their workers than ever before (Sahoo & Mishra, 2012). Sahoo and Mishra stated that the ability to keep workers engaged is a facet of organizational success. Sahoo and Mishra discussed that there is limited academic literature on the subject, and as a result, insufficient knowledge about how management influences employee engagement.

Carter and Baghurst (2014) contended that an attitude of servant leadership affected employee engagement. Carter and Baghurst noted that servant leadership is a leadership philosophy pertaining to the concerns of (a) ethics, (b) customer experience, and (c) employee engagement while creating a unique organizational culture where leaders and employees collaborate to reach organizational goals without positional or authoritative power. With employees viewed as one of the greatest assets of organizations, maintaining loyal, productive employees while balancing profits becomes a challenge for leaders, and drives the need to understand employee engagement drivers (Carter & Baghurst, 2014). Transformational leadership is another leadership philosophy that influences employee engagement (Perko, Kinnunen, & Feldt, 2014). A high level of transformational leadership was associated with elevated levels of employee self-efficacy and perceived meaningfulness of the work, in turn improving employee engagement (Perko et al., 2014). Tuss, Shantz, Soane, Alfes, and Delbridge (2013) argued that there are three stages of employee engagement. The three phases discussed by Tuss et al. (2013) were (a) vigor, (b) dedication, and (c) absorption.

Tillott, Walsh, and Moxham (2013) characterized engagement by (a) energy, (b) involvement, and (c) positive attitude in the workplace. Men (2014) noted that highly engaged employees (a) attempt optimal output daily, (b) put organizational interests first, (c) offer innovative ideas and suggestions, (d) eagerly contribute to the organization, and (e) find joy in work. To the contrary, disengaged employees (a) complete the minimum amount of work to stay employed, (b) are resistant to change, (c) allow negative attitudes to infiltrate the organization, and (d) view work as a chore (Men, 2012). Pater and Lewis (2012) further discussed disengaged employees as those who passively withdraw from work and display active resistance to new ideas.

Mone, Eisinger, Guggenheim, Price, and Stine (2011) investigated if performance management improved employee engagement. There are five major activities within performance management that promote the engagement of employees (Mone et al., 2011). These activities included (a) setting clear performance goals, (b) continual communication and feedback from organizational leaders, (c) the completion of appraisals, (d) managing employee development, and (e) the formation of trust within the organization. Delving deeper into employee engagement, Karanges, Beatson, Johnston, and Lings (2014) opined that employee engagement relates to (a) higher productivity, (b) lower attrition, and (c) enhanced organizational repute. While drivers of employee engagement consist of (a) apparent support, (b) job characteristics, and (c) value equivalence, managerial communication appears to influence both the process and preservation of employee engagement efforts. Communication is an integral part of the performance of employees (Karanges et al., 2014). Aguinis, Gottfredson, and Joo (2012) proposed a need for fundamental change in performance management perception. Aguinis et al. mentioned that rather than attempting to improve the effectiveness of performance management by changing features of the formal system (e.g., steps, tools, and processes), increased focus should be placed on improving manager–employee communication and aspects of the manager–employee relationship that are foundational for effective performance management.

Aburge (2011) stated that businesses increasing depend on communications for their success since a well-organized communication system stimulates worker satisfaction in organizations. Aburge examined three Ghanaian organizations in the private sector using a quantitative survey of 90 respondents to gain information. Aburge concluded that there was a significant relationship between efficient organizational communication and employee satisfaction and engagement. Sinha (2012) expanded upon Aburge's position relating to the importance of communication within an organization. Sinha explained that good and effective communication is essential for managing business relations. Business communication not only involves communicating with external entities, but also with the human capital within the organization.

Aburge (2011) also mentioned that organizational communication has a positive effect on employee performance. Employees preferred good leadership communication behavior because it increased personal productivity in the workplace (Aburge, 2011). Aburge concluded that organizations in the business sector will achieve their objectives if they pay proper attention to the communication processes through efficient organizational communication in the workplace. Harrison (2012) agreed with Aburge's assessment and discussed the significance of communication in persuading employees to become engaged in work. Harrison made the connection between managerial communication and engagement, stating that managers must keep the lines of communication open with employees at all times. Harrison asserted that listening to and implementing employee feedback is a facet of maintaining an engaged workforce.

Wang and Hsieh (2013) examined the effect of genuine managerial leadership on employee engagement via employee trust. Wang and Hsieh collected data from employees within the top 1,000 manufacturing companies in Taiwan. The results of the investigation displayed consistency between manager's words and actions. When employees felt an established trust with management, the willingness to communicate was greater and engagement increased (Wang & Hsieh, 2013). Organizational controls further facilitate employee trust within an organization (Joy & Poonamallee, 2014). Well-implemented control systems within an organization encourage employee trust whereas inconsistent, overly rigid, or untrustworthy communication behavior can undermine employee trust in the organization (Joy & Poonamallee, 2014).

Memon, Salleh, Baharom, and Harun (2014) discussed the role of the organizational environment on employee engagement. Memon et al. opined that both the employee and organizational environment could significantly affect an individual's behaviors and thus organizational outcomes. Memon et al. noted that employeeorganization fit acted as a predictor of job satisfaction and organizational commitment, mediated by employee engagement. Cardus (2013) reviewed five levers that contributed to higher employee engagement. Cardus explained that employee engagement does not fall on the employee alone but is a systems solution. The five levers to improve engagement Cardus presented are (a) competent leaders, (b) broad goals established within context, (c) objective measures of progress and regress, (d) necessary resources to complete the job, and (e) sufficient autonomy to complete the best work possible.

Russ (2012) researched the relationship between communication apprehension and learning preferences within an organizational setting. Russ found a significant correlation between organizational personnel's high communication apprehension and a distinct preference for the reflective observation-learning mode. Employees have very diverse learning styles and assimilation of those styles within an organizational setting can be difficult (Russ, 2012). Russ concluded that communication apprehension negatively affects an employee's professional development and workplace effectiveness. Byrne, Flood, and Shanahan (2012) complimented Russ's research on communication apprehension. Byrne et al. discussed communication apprehension as a significant factor that prohibits a person from willingly being able to communicate. Communication apprehension is a contributor to poor communication skills within an organization (Byrne et al., 2012).

Welch (2011) investigated the evolution of employee engagement and the role of communication in enhancing employee engagement. Welch divided the stages of engagement evolution as (a) the pre-wave era (pre-1990s), (b) wave 1 (1990-1999), (c) wave 2 (2000-2005), and (d) wave 3 (2006-2010). Welch indicated each stage shows

progression in the research behind communication and employee engagement. Welch detailed that there is a connection between employee engagement and managerial communication, and thus the communications discipline needs more research. Furthering the research conducted by Welch, Sarangi and Srivastava (2012) provided insight on how communication affects employee engagement and organizational success. Sarangi and Srivastava detailed that engaged employee's drive company profitability and contributed to an overall calm organizational climate. Drivers of employee engagement include organizational culture and communication strategies (Sarangi & Srivastava, 2012). Sarangi and Srivastava found that the role of managerial communication is a significant predictor of employee engagement. In agreement with Sarangi and Srivastava, He, Zhu, and Zheng (2014) also noted that employee engagement was a predictor of organizational success. He, Zhu, and Zheng stated that employee engagement was a significant factor in organizational performance. Low employee engagement is a challenge for organizations, as employee engagement has a direct effect on organizational outcomes and performance (He, Zhu, & Zheng, 2014). He, Zhu, and Zheng implied that changes made to management practices to increase employee satisfaction might increase business-unit outcomes, including profit.

Shuck and Reio (2013) discussed how poor workforce engagement could be detrimental to organizations and overall organizational productivity. Shuck and Reio stated that low employee engagement could lead to a decrease in employee well-being and productivity, which in turn can negatively influence an organization. Yong, Nasterback, Pluto, Lang, and Oberlinner (2013) researched work related stress among employees within organizations to discern the effect of work-related stress in business entities. Yong et al. (2013) stated that workplace stress can influence employee productivity through increased absenteeism due to ill health or presenteeism, which is when an employee is present at work but with reduced productivity. Presenteeism imposed a direct economic cost on employers (Yong et al., 2013). Furthermore, a negative association between job-related stress and work ability occurred in diverse occupational groups, along with having a significant predictive value for disability and early retirement (Yong et al., 2013).

Prottas (2013) expanded upon research of work stress and engagement. Prottas hypothesized that employee perception of their manager's behavior would have an effect on overall engagement. Using data from the 2008 National Study of the Changing Workforce, Prottas investigated reports by workers of moral anguish and their thoughts of their manager's behavioral integrity (BI). Prottas stated that BI positively relates to job satisfaction, job engagement, health, and life satisfaction and unconstructively to stress, retention likelihood, and work-to-family conflict while moral distress inversely relates to those outcomes. Prottas concluded the magnitudes of relationships with job satisfaction, job engagement, and life satisfaction was more significant with BI than with moral distress.

Day (2011) examined the effect of open communication regarding employee pay on overall pay satisfaction. Day hypothesized that the relationships linking pay communication and pay satisfaction are present because fairness perceptions mediate the relationship between pay and communication. According to Day, pay communiqué is of significance to the leadership of public division organizations, where many aspects of the compensation scheme are in the public domain and lead to misunderstandings without adequate communication. Day explained that employees who work for organizations without proper communication are less likely to remain engaged in daily work. Complementing Day's communication research, Fulmer and Gelfand (2012) investigated the relationship between organizational communication and trust. In particular, Fulmer and Gelfand examined the importance of trust across multiple organizational levels. Organizational communication and trust served as a linchpin for (a) negotiation, (b) leadership practices, (c) team processes, (d) human resource management, (e) organizational change, and (f) strategic alliances (Fulmer & Gelfand, 2012).

Sahoo and Mishra (2012) investigated the employee experience at Pennsylvania State University and created a framework of what motivates employee engagement. The framework included factors of employee engagement such as (a) commitment, (b) organizational behavior, and (c) motivation. Sahoo and Mishra found that effects of high employee engagement included (a) increased trust within the firm, (b) a sense of loyalty to the organization, and (c) and commitment in regards to company goals. Michel, Wayne, and Liao (2015) discussed organization factors that affect employee engagement, the main purpose being to establish the condition of employee engagement and the factors that act as a hindrance to better employee engagement. Michel et al. substantiated that there are several obstacles to improved employee engagement. Some of the hindrances include organizational infrastructure, multidimensional discussions, managerial communication and personal relations with corporate office employees, review of appropriate support, orientation through induction programs, and inadequate interaction with peers from other locations/offices (Michel et al., 2015).

Kassing, Piemonte, Goman, and Mitchell (2012) examined how dissent expression linked to employees' self-reports of work engagement and plan to resign. Kassing et al. discovered that employees who expressed opposition or displeasure at the job were more likely to leave than employees who did not express dissent at the workplace. Kassing et al. voiced that resistance expression related to both workers job engagement and their overall intention to quit from their current position. Kassing et al. also stated that there was an inherent difference between dissent expressed to supervisors and coworkers associated with work engagement versus dissent shown to nonmanagement groups associated with intention to leave. Additional analysis revealed that for managers, work engagement was primarily a function of refraining from expressing disagreement (Kassing, Piemonte, Goman, & Mitchell, 2012).

A question raised by the business world is how to measure employee engagement. Gerst (2013) mentioned that the United States currently spends more than \$720 million annually to improve employee engagement. Gerst stated that a number of organizations will view, and at times purchase, research regarding the means of measuring employee engagement. Gerst discussed that some of the research obtained by the organizations is not scientifically valid research. Gerst indicated that organizations should ensure that the research collected is valid and is not a marketing tool used to promote a new training product or service. Gerst mentioned that an organization must understand the measurement tool used to gauge employee engagement to make sound decisions pertaining to engagement.

The literature review covered relevant current and past studies on the topics of managerial communication and employee engagement. Topics discussed included (a) managerial communication, (b) managerial communication behaviors, (c) managerial interpersonal skills, (d) crises communication behaviors, and (e) employee engagement. In addition, included in the literature review were systems theory and communications theory. The literature review provided the basis for emphasis on managerial communication behaviors within an organization to increase employee engagement. Managerial communication (a) style, (b) delivery, and (c) behaviors that are effective may have an effect on the productivity of employees, and thus an effect on an organization as a whole.

### Transition

In Section 1, I introduced the subject of managerial communication and the possible effect on employee engagement. Section 1 included a discussion of the general and specific business problems of the study. Provided in Section 1 was (a) the nature of the study, (b) definitions of key terms, and (c) potential business and social implications. Section 1 concluded with a review of the literature.

In Section 2, I lay out the procedures for conducting the study. Within Section 2, I review the purpose statement and discussed (a) the role of the researcher, (b) participants, (c) research methodology and design, (d) population and sampling, (e) ethical research, (f) data collection ,and (g) reliability and validity. In Section 3, I discuss (a) findings of the study, (b) application to professional practice, (c) implications for social change, (d) recommendations for action, (e) recommendations for further study, and (f) reflections.

### Section 2: The Project

I employed a qualitative methodology, using an interview as the research instrument, to investigate the stated research question. The selection of the qualitative methodology was due to my desire to understand the learned experiences of the participants.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to explore effective communication behaviors managers use to improve employee engagement and organizational productivity. Data collection included 23 semistructured interviews using open-ended questions conducted with managers and nonmanagerial employees from local government public entities in the Tidewater, Virginia, area. This population was appropriate for research pertaining to managerial communication behaviors and employee engagement due to their personal experiences with managerial communication and their ability to discuss their experiences surrounding the effect of communication on their organization. In addition, the diverse sample provided various perspectives.

The results from this study may influence social change by giving business leaders insight into how effective communication behaviors between managers and their subordinates may improve overall employee engagement and thus increase organizational productivity. The findings from this study may also provide business leaders with examples of strategies that may prevent an adverse shift in organizational climate due to poor communication behaviors.

## **Role of the Researcher**

As the researcher, my responsibility included creating the questions used for the participant interviews. I requested participation from those in subordinate positions and managerial capacities in public industry to complete an interview for the study. I also conducted the interviews, in person, with all participants; analyzing the data obtained from the interviews and interpreting the results. Interviews provided the data needed to answer the research question because the interview question structure gauged the participant's experience. Marshall and Rossman (2015) stated that a researcher must identify any bias, including background and values, which have the potential to shape interpretations during research collection. Analyzing the results included (a) compiling and transcribing all interviews, (b) deducing the similarities and differences between the interviews, and (c) using the interview data to identify themes regarding managerial communication techniques and employee engagement within an organization. The final responsibility as the researcher was ensuring that I met ethical considerations when completing the research (Belmont Report, 1979). Respect for human participants incorporates two ethical convictions; treat individuals as autonomous agents and those with diminished autonomy are entitled to protection (Belmont Report, 1979). I conducted my research in accordance with the guidelines of the Belmont Report.

As the researcher, I completed a thorough exploration to create a meaningful contribution to business literature, particularly in the area of managerial communication. As someone who has worked in both employee and managerial capacities, my connection

to the topic is my career within the public sector. My home is near the location of the study, which was another connection to the geographic location of the participants.

# **Participants**

Participants from the Tidewater area of Virginia completed interviews for the doctoral study. Tidewater consists of seven major cities: Chesapeake, Hampton, Newport News, Norfolk, Portsmouth, Suffolk, and Virginia Beach. The most important distinction among sampling schemes may be if a researcher intentionally selects a design-based sample prior to data collection (selective) or leaves sample selection to be shaped primarily by the data collection process (purposive) (Roy et al., 2015). I used a nonrandom, purposive participant selection technique to choose participants who met the study criteria and embodied the core population intended for the research. Participant selection should have clear reasoning and achieve a specific purpose related to the research question, leading some to describe qualitative methods as purposive (Cleary et al., 2014).

I recruited participants using social media (i.e., Facebook, LinkedIn, and Instagram). Two of the selected sites, Facebook and LinkedIn, had pages geared towards organizations and businesses which made it easier to find participants within the study parameters. I made a total of three posts, one for each social media site. The social media posts indicated the (a) study topic and instructional review board approval number, (b) participant requirements, and (c) my contact information. Marshall and Rossman (2015) indicated that a decisively selected sample allows the researcher to support the research problem and question. The total population for the research was approximately 250 individuals who were managers and nonmanagerial employees, working for a local city government organization.

Each participant had to have at least 1 year working experience within a public, local government organization in the Tidewater area. In addition to the general participant requirements, all managerial participants had to directly supervise a minimum of five employees and have a minimum of 3 years' experience in a managerial capacity. O'Reilly and Parker (2012) recommended minimizing sample size in qualitative research based on expected reasonable coverage of the phenomenon given the purpose of the study and stakeholder interest. The principle of data saturation entails bringing new participants continually into the study until the data set is absolute, as indicated by data duplication or redundancy (Marshall et al., 2013). Saturation occurs when the researcher collects data to the point of diminishing returns (Walker, 2012). Estimating adequate sample size directly relates to the concept of saturation (Marshall et al., 2013). For descriptive research studies, ranges for the number of participants include approximately six to 10 participants (Smith, 2012). I interviewed 23 participants.

As discussed by Rowley (2012), a researcher should refrain from using information that could identify a participant. All interviewee personal and identifying information was confidential and inaccessible to the public to protect the participant and encouraged transparency and honesty during the interviews. All interview responses were confidential to the public to promote openness during the interview and to reassure the participant that participation in the study would not have a negative effect on their professional lives (Rowley, 2012). I recorded via digital recorder and stored all data on my personal computer for a minimum of 5 years. Destruction of data occurs after 5 years (Cridland et al., 2015). The computer is password protected and kept in my possession. Use of participant identifying information on interview transcripts may jeopardize confidentiality (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). To protect the confidentiality of participants, I did not include the use of participant names on the interview transcripts or use in any part of the study. Prior to the interview, participants received, reviewed, and signed a consent form to participate. Tracking of consent occurred in an Excel spreadsheet. At the conclusion of the study, participants received a one-page summary of the study results.

## **Research Method and Design**

The methods and designs selected for research were critical to research results. The selected research method and design ultimately influenced research findings and created a relationship between studies (Mercieca & Mercieca, 2013). Researchers who use quantitative research methods can measure data objectively to examine a predetermined hypothesis (Hartas, 2015). Qualitative analysis involves collecting data in the natural verbal or written form, gaining a high level of insight into how individuals make sense of events and experiences (Hartas, 2015).

### **Research Method**

Of the three research methodologies accepted by most researchers (quantitative, qualitative, and mixed methods), I selected the qualitative methodology for this study. Van Maanen (1979) encouraged researchers to use qualitative methodology as a source of insight into organizational phenomena. Qualitative methodology applies to the social sciences, such as business (Bluhm, Harman, Lee, & Mitchell, 2011). Researchers use the qualitative methodology to investigate topics that are more expressive in nature. Bluhm et al. surmised that qualitative research focuses on words and observations to express reality and attempts to describe people in innate situations. Sallee and Flood (2013) stated that one of the primary strengths of qualitative research is the focus on context; researchers have the ability to develop an understanding of context and how individuals behave in natural settings when obtaining data. I focused on business content, centered on managerial/employee communication. Managerial/employee interaction, particularly communication, occurs in a natural, everyday setting and thus researched using the qualitative method. Based on the topic of the study, the qualitative method was the selected approach for this research.

Quantitative is the oldest and the most identifiable methodology within the research field, used to explain relationships (Wisdom, Cavaleri, Onwuegbuzie, & Green, 2012). Researchers who employ quantitative methodology use specific theories as a point of reference to observe specific phenomena (Wisdom et al., 2012). The use of empirical observation falsifies the constructed hypotheses (Wisdom et al., 2012). Being that the research I conducted focused on understanding a phenomenon and the personal lived experiences of the participants; I did not believe quantitative research was the best approach to use for the study topic. The third methodology, mixed methods, is a combination of both the quantitative and qualitative methods in a single study (Venkatesh et al., 2013). The central premise of relying on mixed methods is the combination of phenomena

and relationships than either approach alone (Molina-Azorin et al., 2014). Mixed methods was not the preferred approach for my research because of the quantitative element used within this methodology.

I applied the qualitative method to the topic of effective managerial communication behaviors and employee engagement primarily because I believed quantifying the effect of managerial communication on employee engagement may be difficult. When individuals speak of the unique value of qualitative research methodology, they often name the capability to develop awareness into how people understand and make sense of their worlds (Tracy, 2013). Khan (2014) explained that the qualitative research method is flexible and allows the researcher to work with a more open structure. I noted that there were four distinct advantages to using the qualitative method for the doctoral study. Bluhm et al. (2011) discussed benefits of the qualitative research method. One advantage is the data obtained from participant's centers on that individual's personal experiences (Bluhm et al., 2011). Another advantage of using a qualitative method is that a researcher can study a limited number of cases in depth concurrently, which is essential to those who are completing the research (Bluhm et al., 2011). The ability to describe complex phenomena is also an advantage to using the qualitative research method (Bluhm et al., 2011). A final advantage is collecting data in naturalistic settings, such as personal interviews and discussions (Bluhm et al., 2011). For the research, I focused on the participant's personal experiences and wanted to describe complex phenomena; thus, the advantages mentioned applied to my study.

The qualitative method is not without disadvantages. Data analysis can be timeconsuming when using the qualitative method, and there is a chance that personal biases of the researcher can negatively affect the research (Bluhm et al., 2011). I understood the disadvantages of the qualitative method and was conscious of the disadvantages while completing the research.

# **Research Design**

Qualitative designs include (a) ethnography, (b) narrative, (c) grounded theory, (d) phenomenological studies, and (e) descriptive research/case study (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Yin (2014) explained that the research design determines the direction of the research. Research designs vary, and each has advantages and disadvantages; the choice of research design depends on the purpose of the study and the nature of the research (Fletcher & Conley, 2013). I used a descriptive research design in the study.

Ethnography has increased in popularity within the research realm and within organizational studies (Cayla & Arnould, 2013). Ethnographic design involves extensive fieldwork and applies in a variety of public settings that allow for direct observations of the activities of the group being studied (Moustakas, 1994). I did not plan to complete direct observations of the study participants; direct observation is difficult and requires repeated access to an organization over time (Moustakas, 1994). Thus, ethnographic design is not a fitting design for the research.

Grounded theory design is a frequently used qualitative method in the social sciences (Johnson, 2015). A researcher using grounded theory design focuses on unraveling elements of a particular experience (Moustakas, 1994). While I was interested

in the aspects of managerial communication and employee engagement, the primary focus of the study was not to discover the components of a particular experience but rather to understand the experience. For this reason, I did not employ grounded theory design.

Case study design occurs in various disciplines and may consist of quantitative or qualitative data; case study design is the examination of phenomena in a natural setting (Taylor, Dossick, & Garvin, 2011). Sangster-Gormley (2013) described case study research as the assemblage and presentation of thorough unstructured data gathered from various sources to better understand specific groups, people, societies, or organizations. Case study observations equate to qualitative research; however, researchers from social science disciplines have shown that case studies are often mixed methods projects with both qualitative and quantitative aspects (Taylor et al., 2011). Taylor, Dossick, and Garvin (2011) said data for a case study might come from (a) fieldwork, (b) archived records, (c) verbal reports, or (d) direct observation. Herreid, Schiller, Herreid, and Wright (2012) furthered the observation of Taylor et al. (2011) by stating true-to-form case study design includes (a) adherence to experimental design, (b) executing tests, (c) honoring evidence, (d) examination of assumptions, and (e) questioning of conclusions. I did not view the participants in a natural setting (i.e., office environment), and thus did not believe the case study design was suitable for the research.

Employing a narrative research design indicates the desire to understand the human experience through interpreting accounts of qualitative research data (Hays & Wood, 2011). Narrative design is reminiscent of storytelling, whereas the goal is sharing

and organizing knowledge and experience (Schmidt, 2014). Culturally, individuals use narratives to (a) learn, (b) understand, and (c) communicate (Schmidt, 2014). With the narrative design, the meaning of the research comes from the story (Hays & Wood, 2011). Charmaz and McMullen (2011) described narrative design as a mode of qualitative inquiry informed by narrative theory as opposed to other qualitative designs researchers may use to explore narrative data but not from a narrative perspective. Thus, narrative design is an attempt to extrapolate meaning from a story and to comprehend the human experience (Charmaz & McMullen, 2011). The goal of the study was to understand the participants' lived experiences, not to extract the meaning of the research from the stories told. Thus, I did not employ the narrative research design.

The phenomenological design involves explaining the human experience regarding a phenomenon from the view of the participant (Zivkovic, 2012). Researchers who use the phenomenological design are interested in the individual experiences of people (Khan, Kolts, Thase, Krishnan, & Brown, 2015). The focal point of a phenomenological study are people who work in like environments or share similar experiences to discover commonalities among the group (Zivkovic, 2012). Researchers using phenomenological design seek the essence of the phenomenon or experience being investigated (Moustakas, 1994). I did not plan to research a specific phenomenon and thus did not use the phenomenological design in this study.

The descriptive research design involves collecting information without manipulating the environment (Bickman & Rog, 1998). Descriptive research is an approach to research that is not quantitatively experimental (Hall & Jurow, 2015).

Descriptive research can provide information about the naturally occurring behavior, attitudes, or other characteristics of a particular subject or group (Giorgi, 2012). Descriptive research design may involve one-time interaction with groups of participants or may follow participants over time; research instruments can include surveys or interviews (Bickman & Rog, 1998). By selecting the descriptive research design, I explored the ongoing relationship between communication behaviors and employee engagement within an organization.

# **Population and Sampling**

The basis of population selection for this research was participant work experience, participant access, and geographic convenience to the researcher and consisted of those living in the Tidewater area of Virginia. All individuals participating in this study met the following criteria: (a) adult full-time employee, (b) had been with their current employer for at least 1 year, (c) employed by a public, government organization in the Tidewater area, and (d) work full-time. Managers participating in this study met the following criteria: must have directly supervised a minimum of five employees and have a minimum of 3 years' experience in a managerial capacity. The subsystem of managers and nonmanagement employees within an organization aligned with systems theory by offering an individual work product or service to their respective employer, which in turn supports the community where the employer is located. The subsystem of managers and nonmanagement employees within an organization aligned with communications theory due to a need for mutual understanding in communication among both groups to effectively complete their jobs. I employed a nonrandom, purposive participant sampling method to choose participants who met the study criteria and represented the population intended for the research. As noted by Cleary, Horsfall, and Hayter (2014), participant selection should have clear reasoning and realize a specific purpose related to the research question. Purposeful participant selection assisted me in addressing the research question (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). For descriptive research studies, sample size range includes approximately 6 to 10 participants (Smith, 2012). To help ensure depth of information, I used a sample size of a minimum of 20 participants.

While there seemed to be no concrete way to justify sample size within qualitative research (Marshall et al., 2013), I believed that a minimum of 20 semistructured interviews with open-ended questions would provide the needed information for a sound study. Saturation determined how many participants I interviewed. Reaching saturation occurs after review of questions and no new concepts or themes emerge in subsequent interviews (Trotter, 2012). I anticipated reaching saturation by the time I interviewed the 20<sup>th</sup> participant, but did not reach saturation until interviewing 23 participants. Expected return or reward for participation affects the response rate of potential participants (Evangelista, Poon, & Albaum, 2012). People participate in research based on (a) the perceived cost associated with participation, (b) the award or reward for participation, and (c) the belief that completion of participation leads to the receipt of any associated rewards (Evangelista et al., 2012). Due in part to participation parameters, only 35 individuals responded to the interview request.

There are seven cities located in the Tidewater, Virginia, area. For the purpose of this study, I focused on local government entities within the Tidewater area. The population consisted of managerial employees and subordinates that worked for two local government bodies in the Tidewater area. The two local government entities have a total population of approximately 250 potential participants. I based my estimate of this population on information that is publicly available on these government websites. Each individual received a cover letter explaining the purpose and background of the study and the consent form. Once a participant provided consent, scheduling of the interview occurred. The number of participants considered necessary for a qualitative study does not have to be as large as the sample needed for a qualitative study, as there tends to be a deeper level of understanding required for a qualitative investigation (Polkinghorne, 2005).

All participant information remained confidential; however, I knew the identities of the participants because I arranged and conducted the interviews. Researchers use codes that identify individual participants as a confidentiality measure (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). The participants received a number at the beginning of the process and only used the number to identify himself or herself on the audio recording; this process allowed me to maintain confidentiality of the research participants. I asked each participant five open-ended interview questions (Appendix A); 11 participants responded to the questions designated for managers and 12 participants responded to the questions designated for nonmanagement employees. Each participant responded to all interview questions asked. At the conclusion of each interview, I played back the audio recording and reviewed each response with the participant for validation and accuracy of intended meaning. I closed each interview by thanking the participant for their time and willingness to participate in the research study. Destruction of raw data occurs after 5 years.

### **Ethical Research**

Researchers note the importance of consideration of ethics within an exploratory study. Ethics is the continual development of a system of values and high principles that inform and guide an individual's activity and the activity of an institution as a corporate soul (Gabriele, 2012). Gabriele (2012) noted that ethics is as much about who a person is, as it is about what an individual does. In this sense, ethics in research is critical especially when one considers appreciably the power of research to touch the lives of individuals and the world in which we live. Ethical guidelines and codes of conduct adopted by professional researchers include (a) rules, (b) duties, and (c) responsibilities (Resnick, 2012). I kept all ethical considerations in mind while completing this study. Protecting all research participants was essential to the integrity of ethical research and was the protocol when obtaining data (Resnick, 2012). Keeping all research participant information confidential from the public was the primary ethical consideration (Siedman, 1977).

As the researcher, I used safeguards to protect the confidentiality of participants. I used an alphanumerical system when identifying participants to eliminate the use of names while tracking the data for the study with each participant receiving a unique alphanumeric identifier. The alphanumeric code assigned to each participant was a safeguard. Codes that identify each participant have meaning for the researcher only during analysis (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). Upon completion of data analysis, removal of participant codes from all subsequent writings may lessen the chance of a reader linking participant data through a participant code (Morse & Coulehan, 2014). Another example of a safeguard was the alphanumerical assignment key securely stored on a password-protected computer owned by the researcher. A password-protected computer will house data for 5 years.

Participants want reassurance of confidentiality in the research process (Siedman, 1977). I did not request the names of the organization, supervisors, or employees related to particular experiences when completing the interviews with participants. This practice reinforced confidentiality (Siedman, 1977). I collected participant signatures on the informed consent agreement prior to holding the interview. Participants read the informed consent agreement; participant signature indicated approval. I tracked consent via an Excel spreadsheet, displaying the participant number and date of consent. Participant honesty increases when the researcher is the sole person who knows their identity (Gloe et al., 2013). Participants would be more willing to be forthright, open, and honest with their interview responses if they knew that I was the only one who knew their identity.

Privacy relates to confidentiality, mainly with regard to possible harming of research participants (Heffetz & Ligett, 2014). While I did not foresee the need to gather personal data, if the need to obtain personal details arose, collection of the information would occur with (a) high sensitivity, (b) offering enough rationalization for the use of

the information, and (c) addressing the right to informed consent. Participants could withdraw from the study at any time for any reason; the procedures for withdrawal were in the Informed Consent document. None of the participants withdrew from the study. There were no incentives given for participation in the study.

### **Data Collection Instruments**

The use of data collection instruments give the researcher a tool to gather useful information to understand and process observed results (Goodman, Cryder, & Cheema, 2013). I chose an interview as the instrument to collect data for the study because my focus was on obtaining data on the personal experiences of each participant. Researchers commonly use interviews to collect data within qualitative research (Copeland & Agosto, 2012). The interview technique is one of the universal ways to collect data in the qualitative research process because the interview provides an opportunity for the researcher to collect meaningful data (Dubé, Schinke, Strasser, & Lightfoot, 2014). The interview included five open-ended questions that varied slightly based on the position held by the participant (manager or employee).

An interview is an in-person attempt to acquire reliable and valid data in the form of verbal responses from one or more participants (Englander, 2012). The roles of the interviewer and participant are structured or change continually in the interview process (Doody & Noonan, 2013). I used the interview as a tool to measure concepts of (a) effective managerial communication, (b) factors of engagement, (c) ways to improve communication, and (d) individual importance placed on communication within the workplace. Raw data from the interview will be available upon request from the researcher. The interview length allowed the collection of data in the allotted 45-minute period. Interview length can have an effect on the quality of responses, and thus interviewers who are cognizant of keeping interviews shorter tend to receive more sound data (McGonagle, Brown, & Schoeni, 2015). I used alphanumerical codes to identify participant responses to maintain confidentiality of the participants. Located in the top right hand corner of the interview form was the alphanumerical code. All participants received and signed a copy of the informed consent form and a copy of the interview questions at the beginning of the interview.

Using an interview as the data collection instrument is appropriate due to the qualitative, descriptive nature of the research (Wright & Ogbuehi, 2014). I was aware that participating in interviews could be stressful for the participant. In the cases where participants know all study details, the actual interview may give rise to unanticipated negative emotions that even the most sensitive questioning on the part of the interviewer cannot adequately prevent (Englander, 2012). As the interviewer, my responsibility lay in creating or maintaining a calm atmosphere that placed the interview participants at ease; genuine recognition and appreciation expressed to the participant for participating in the interview often sets the tone for positive interaction (Ratley, 2013). I explained the entire interview process, including the steps taken to protect participant identity. Appendix A contains the interview questions.

## **Data Collection Technique**

The data collection instrument I used was an interview. As the researcher, I had the ability to observe the verbal and non-verbal behavior of the participants. The ability to observe both nonverbal and verbal behavior of participants is an advantage to using an interview for data collection (Doody & Noonan, 2013). The interview consisted of five open-ended questions designed to elicit in-depth responses as part of the descriptive research design (Moustakas, 1994). Rubin and Rubin (2012) discussed that since the researcher pursues a constant line of inquiry, the stream of questions in an interview should follow a fluid design rather than rigid design. Rubin and Rubin also mentioned that the researcher should evaluate collected data and repeatedly question events and facts discussed during the interview. I used the recommendation of Rubin and Rubin in the study.

I obtained a list of possible participants from the recruitment efforts noted earlier within the study. I scheduled interviews with individuals who responded to my requests for participants and who meet the criteria for the study, which included (a) adult full-time employee, (b) had been with their current employer for at least 1 year, and (c) the type of organization the participant worked for. For managerial participants, the criteria included minimum of 3 years supervisory experience and currently supervised at least five employees. I selected 23 participants with a purposive, nonrandom sampling technique and completed the interviews.

Participant responses provided perspective into managerial/employee communication as it related to employee engagement. The interviews occurred face-toface and entailed using open-ended interview questions. The researcher should demonstrate gratitude to each participant (Yin, 2014). The interview ended with a statement of gratitude, thanking the participant for their time. Providing participants with options regarding meeting date and time may increase the likelihood of participation (Doody & Noonan, 2013). The interviewee had the option to complete the interview on a Wednesday, Saturday, or Sunday of a selected week; this allowed the participant to plan the interview around their work schedule. Researchers may have to employ creative strategies to protect participant identity (Mneimneh et al., 2013). The interview occurred in a private room within a library located centrally within the Tidewater, Virginia, area. The location of the private room (a) provided privacy, as it was away from the main entrance, (b) had blinds that can be closed, and (c) had a door that can be locked to prevent unauthorized access during the interview process.

The interview process did not exceed 45 minutes, which I verified by completing a pilot test of the interview questions with colleagues as suggested in Wahyuni's (2012) research. Pilot testing is a small-scale trial where a select number of participants vet interview questions and comment on the mechanics of the interview (Wahyuni, 2012). The participants point out any problems with the interview questions or instances where questions are not clear (Wahyuni, 2012). The length of the interview in qualitative research should not extend beyond an hour, where possible to ensure that the interviewee remains engaged (Dubé et al., 2014). I planned to extend the interview in the case that I did not receive answers to all interview questions within the allotted time frame. A researcher can review interview responses as needed if responses are audio-recorded (Stavros & Westberg, 2009). I recorded all responses gathered during the interview. If a participant objected to audio recording of the interview session, I would have notated the interview responses by hand and had the participant sign the notation. Listed in Appendix A are the interview questions. Journal writing is a heuristic tool for a researcher (Hoover & Morrow, 2015). A researcher may discover or learn new concepts when reviewing the notes within the journal (Hoover & Morrow, 2015). I kept a journal when conducting the interviews as a way to note elements of non-verbal communication and for personal reflection. Epoche was used in the data collection process.

I completed member checking during the coding process to verify the accuracy of the information obtained during the interview process. Member checking is a quality control process in qualitative research during the course of conducting the study because participants have the chance to review their statements for accuracy (Harper & Cole, 2012). Member checking involves inviting interview participants to review their responses for accuracy and intended meaning (Morse & Coulehan, 2015). At the conclusion of the interview, I replayed the audio recording and had the participant verify accuracy of the responses. The participants either agreed or disagreed that the summaries reflected their views, feelings, and experiences, and if accuracy and completeness were affirmed, then the study is said to have credibility (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The use of member checking assists with the reliability and dependability of a study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Lincoln and Guba (1985) stated that member checking is a technique that consists of repeatedly verifying with participant's (a) the researcher's data, (b) analytic categories, (c) understanding, and (d) conclusions.

The concept of epoche, also known as bracketing, is when the researcher refrains from personal opinion to view the phenomenon without prejudice and predetermined ideas (Moustakas, 1994). Overgaard (2015) stated that epoche, in the purest form, is when the researcher purifies an experience of assumptions inherent in the experience. Epoche should begin as a self-reflective process, preparing for data analysis and phenomenological reduction (Tufford & Newman, 2012). Phenomenological reduction does not conclude the epoche process; the researcher has to make an effort to eliminate the thought of past experiences, thoughts, preferences, and emotions to receive the phenomenon in an unadulterated form (Moustakas, 1994). While this was not a phenomenological study, many of the techniques espoused by Moustakas worked within a qualitative descriptive study.

## **Data Organization Technique**

I organized data in two ways. All interviews were audio recorded, ensuring an accurate record of the interview (Stavros & Westberg, 2009). As suggested by Stavros and Westberg (2009), I recorded all data and information gathered during the interview. Recording the interviews ensured that I had an accurate record of the interview. Researchers may have to employ unique strategies to maintain participant confidentiality (Mneimneh et al., 2013). Saving the transcribed answers to the interview questions on a password-protected USB flash drive protected confidentiality of the participant, as I was the only person with access to the USB flash drive. I will delete the transcribed interviews by destroying the flash drive after 5 years. Next, I transcribed the interviews by code and date of the interview. Interview transcription of verbal interviews includes (a) reduction, (b) interpretation, and (c) representation to make the text meaningful (Elo et al., 2014). For confidentiality purposes, each participant received a unique code; this

code consisted of the letter M for managers and E for employees, followed by a two-digit number.

I took notes during each interview as a means of keeping my thoughts organized and notating any item that required further clarification from the participant. Note taking during the interview process can help facilitate analysis (Muswazi & Nhamo, 2013). In note taking, the researcher makes note of phrases or words participants use that add detail to the interview (Leech, Collins, & Onwuegbuzie, 2014). Detailed, handwritten notes covered words or phrases that piqued my interest during the interview or areas where details were missing. Note taking during the interview process also served as a way to determine if bias existed on the part of the researcher. Draper and Swift (2011) recommended for the researcher to keep notes of personal feelings and ideas during the interview process; after the interviews are completed, the researcher can review the notes to see if their thoughts created bias in the interview process. I kept all handwritten interview notes and journal notes in a locked file cabinet within my home.

### **Data Analysis**

Data analysis occurs as an explicit step in conceptually interpreting the data set as a whole, using specific analytic strategies to transform raw data into an original and coherent depiction of the research subject (Gale, Heath, Cameron, Rashid, & Redwood, 2013). The data analysis process consisted of detailed and consistent procedures involving organized steps to ensure the validity and reliability of results. The first step entailed the organization and preparation of the data for research analysis (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). The second step was a complete review of all collected data; this process allowed for the explanation of findings and provided opportunities to filter out data that did not pertain to the research question or overall purpose of the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). The third step was the commencement of the coding process, which allowed segmentation of the data to begin (Yin, 2014). The interview questions are below, as well as in Appendix A:

**Employee Questions** 

- 1. Based on your personal experiences, how do you think employees within your organization communicate effectively?
- 2. Based on your personal experiences, how would you describe effective communication between an employee and their immediate supervisor within your organization?
- How has positive communication between you and your immediate supervisor affected your engagement at work? Please provide an example.
- 4. Does increased communication and/or interaction with your immediate supervisor influence your engagement at work? How?
- 5. What other ways has communication with your supervisor affected your engagement at work?

# Manager Questions

1. Based on your personal experiences, how do you think employees within your organization communicate effectively?

- 2. Based on your personal experiences, how would you describe effective communication between a manager and their employee(s) within your organization?
- How has positive communication between you and your employee(s) affected your engagement at work? Please provide an example.
- 4. Does increased communication and/or interaction with your employee(s) influence your engagement at work? How?
- 5. What other ways has communication with your employee(s) affected your engagement at work?

A code in qualitative inquiry is a word or short phrase that symbolically assigns a summative for a portion of language-based or visual data (Smith & Firth, 2011). The data can consist of (a) interview transcripts, (b) participant observation field notes, (c) journals, and (d) documents (Smith & Firth, 2011). Yin (2014) noted researchers have three choices regarding coding generation: develop codes before the data collection process and fit data to the codes; formulate codes based only on the emerging data generated; use a combination of predetermined and emerging codes. Once I completed the collection of the interview data, I employed the modified van Kaam method of phenomenological data analysis (Moustakas, 1994). Using a descriptive research design for this study, it was appropriate to use the van Kaam method for data analysis. Moustakas (1994) explained that the primary source of knowledge is an individual's perceptions. Moustakas presented a phenomenological analysis model that focused on four elements to include epoche, phenomenological reduction, imaginative variation, and

synthesis of meanings and essences. This technique can add value within a qualitative descriptive study.

The concept of epoche, also known as bracketing, is when the researcher refrains from personal judgment to view the phenomenon without bias and preconceived notions (Moustakas, 1994). Overgaard (2015) stated that epoche occurs when the researcher purifies assumptions inherent in the experience. Researchers should begin the concept of epoche as a self-reflective process, preparing for data analysis and phenomenological reduction (Tufford & Newman, 2012). Phenomenological reduction is not the end of the epoche process; the researcher has to make a conscious effort to remove the thought of previous experiences, perceptions, preferences, and feelings to receive the phenomenon in a pure form (Moustakas, 1994). Phenomenological reduction includes the concept of bracketing, which is the process of placing factors at the heart of the study into brackets while setting other elements aside (Moustakas, 1994). Moustakas (1994) explained that bracketing enables the research process to remain embedded in the research questions, exclusively reflecting the topic under investigation. When completing data analysis, I used the epoche process. I bracketed terms and factors from the completed interviews while setting other items from the interviews aside.

The second process in phenomenological reduction is horizontalizing, where the researcher handles collected data with identical value, lists the data, and segments data into germane groups (Moustakas, 1994). In the horizontalizing process, the researcher reviews and examines all participant responses as potentially relevant (Bernauer, 2015). Moustakas explained that removing data deemed immaterial to the research topic allows

for only the textual meanings and static elements of the phenomenon remain. Moustakas mentioned that phenomenological reduction is a practice where the researcher consciously views the phenomena as phenomena all while intentionally listening to understand the fundamental worth of events. The process of imaginative variation follows phenomenological reduction; the use of imaginative variation provides a means of expanding on the themes revealed to build detail of the experience for the reader (Koch, Niesz, & McCarthy, 2013). Discovery of fundamental concepts occurs by using the process of imaginative variation; thus, the researcher can attempt to answer how the phenomenon came to be (Moustakas, 1994). Intuitive integration is the final step in phenomenological analysis (Moustakas, 1994). The process of intuitive integration allows the researcher to combine individual textual and structural descriptions into a sole description, capturing the experiences of the participants in regards to the phenomenon (Moustakas, 1994). I used horizontalizing within the data analysis process. I viewed all participant answers given as potentially relevant to the research question asked.

I anticipated the collection of thick, rich responses from participant interviews. The NVivo10<sup>™</sup> qualitative analysis software program helped me manage data coding, storage, and analysis of data for this study. One of the main advantages of the program was the ability to assist with the coding of data. The NVivo 10<sup>™</sup> software allowed me to perform content analysis and discover themes and patterns within the interviews. I used the NVivo10<sup>™</sup> qualitative analysis software program to (a) organize data, (b) manage ideas, (c) query data, and (d) report data in a concise and controlled manner (Guangming, Wenjuan, & Jinjin, 2014). Interview responses from the 23 participants, which were representative of managers and employees within local public government entities, served as the data for the study.

A form of qualitative data analysis is the modified van Kaam process (Moustakas, 1994). The modified van Kaam process is a seven-step methodology used in data analysis (Wertz, 2015). I incorporated the seven-step modified van Kaam process in data analysis. The first step in the modified van Kaam process was to list every expression relevant to the experience and develop preliminary groupings (Wertz, 2015). In the second step, I reduced and eliminated groupings by testing each expression for three requirements; (a) did the expression hold a moment of the experience that is required, (b) was there a possibility to abstract and label the moment, and (c) removal of any expressions that failed to meet the two noted requirements (Moustakas, 1994).

Step three in the process was to cluster and thematize invariant constituents by thematic label (Polkinghorne, 2005). In the fourth step, final identification of the invariant constituents and themes by application occurred. Included in step four was a validation process in which (a) invariant constituents were confirmed, (b) themes were expressed clearly in the transcription, (c) themes were verified as compatible, and (d) themes that were not explicit or compatible were deleted (Moustakas, 1994). The fifth step involved the construction of an individual textural description of the experience for every participant (Moustakas, 1994). In the sixth step, construction of an individual structural description of the experience for each participant occurred (Moustakas, 1994). The final step of the process entailed the construction of a textural-structural description of the meanings of the experience that included the invariant constituents and themes (Moustakas, 1994). By using the modified van Kaam seven-step process, I hoped to explain the essences and lived experiences of the participants in the study.

## **Reliability and Validity**

Using reliability and validity strategies within the research study ensured the results were trustworthy (Wahyuni, 2012). When completing qualitative research, quality and trustworthiness were instrumental in demonstrating the reliability and validity of the study (Tracy, 2013). Reliability measures the consistency of the researcher's approach across varied research studies (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Documentation and following research protocol was essential when substantiating the reliability and validity of a study (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). In qualitative research, the concepts of (a) credibility, (b) transferability, and (c) dependability all play a part in establishing the reliability and validity of the study (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Establishing credibility occurs when the results of the research are believable by the study participants (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). The degree of generalization or transfers with study results to other contexts is transferability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985). Researchers should account for the ever-changing context of research, which describes dependability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

## Reliability

Accurately documenting the procedures used in the study was fundamental to establish reliability (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Developing and refining research protocol was significant in strengthening research reliability (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Yin (2014) stipulated researchers should attempt to eliminate mistakes in the data transcription process and should repeatedly check for code drift during the research process to ensure code consistency. I compared the audio recordings to the transcribed interview notes to ensure the accuracy of data. Al-Yateem (2012) noted the question development process could lack consistency between the research questions and the response to such questions.

Limitations of language, scales, associations, and subject knowledge by the participant, could lead to erroneous findings (Al-Yateem, 2012). Clear and concise interview questions helped to improve the reliability of responses (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). Employing the use of probing and follow-up questions ensured the full understanding of participant responses (Rubin & Rubin, 2012). In addition, the use of member checking strengthened reliability (Lincoln & Guba, 1985).

Confirmability within a research study involves a degree of neutrality regarding the extent to which the findings of a study are shaped by the respondents and not researcher bias (Whittemore, Chase, & Mandle, 2001). I completed the Institutional Review Board (IRB) application, which entailed a description of the research steps taken from the beginning of the research project to the development and reporting of findings. Completing and submitting the application for review was fundamental in establishing confirmability as the application assisted in creating an audit trail. The Institutional Review Board (IRB) provided an external audit of the data collection procedures. An external audit is an integral step in confirming the dependability of the study (Elo et al., 2014). Through using these strategies, the reliability of findings in this study should improve.

# Validity

In qualitative research, credibility corresponds to internal validity, and transferability corresponds to external validity (Tracy, 2013). Establishing mechanisms to ensure the validity of research was essential to producing research findings and conclusions that are both legitimate and actionable (Stavros & Westberg, 2009). By incorporating validity strengthening strategies in the research process, the validity should improve (Marshall & Rossman, 2015). Yin (2014) noted qualitative validity entails checking for accuracy of results throughout the research process. Using several strategies can strengthen the validity of the results, as each strategy is effectual regarding different aspects of research (Yin, 2014). The use of clear and concise language in interviewing increases validity (Yin, 2014). To increase validity, I used clear and concise words while presenting interview questions. Ensuring that the researcher has eliminated any potential bias is another step that can strengthen internal validity. Internal validity is the equivalent of credibility when conducting research (Yin, 2014). Marshall and Rossman (2015) stipulated researchers should clarify their backgrounds to elucidate to readers possible bias concerning interpretations of the data, which I did by indicating I was an executive manager for a local government entity and that I lived in the Tidewater area.

Qualitative research involves exploring how participants attach meaning to actions, events, or processes in a natural setting, therefore, interview questions should be clear to the participants (Hermanowicz, 2013). As a validation step, I completed member checking during the coding process to verify the accuracy of the information obtained during the interview process. Member checking strengthens the credibility of a study. Yin (2014) noted qualitative generalization entails the researcher generalizing data into a broader theory. Accomplishing transferability occurs due to the precise layout of research procedures and identification of research participants (Elo et al., 2014). Using a precise layout of the research procedures and identifying the research participants enables a reader to make an independent determination about the transferability of the findings; it is up to the reader to determine the generalizability of the study (Elo et al., 2014). Validity and reliability are accomplished when a researcher completes steps to ensure credibility and trustworthiness is apparent in study results (Tracy, 2013). By completing all of the items noted in this section, I ensured that the validity and reliability of the research.

# **Transition and Summary**

Within Section 2, a detailed review of the research methodology occurred, to include the choice to use a descriptive research design for the study. Section 2 also included the process for participant selection, instrumentation and data collection, and the data analysis process. Section 3 included a report and description of the results of the study. I concluded Section 3 by presenting a summary of the findings resulting from my analysis. Areas for future research are within Section 3.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

# Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive study was to explore effective communication behaviors managers use to improve employee engagement and organizational productivity. The inability of managerial staff to establish a connection with their workforce through use of effective communication can lead to organizational chaos, low productivity, and decreased profitability (Bisel et al., 2012). Organizations that focus on soft skills, including communication, enjoy 85% higher profits compared with firms that are least effective at communicating with their employees (Robles, 2012).

I conducted semistructured interviews with 23 participants who worked for local government entities in the Tidewater, Virginia, area. I asked the participants open-ended interview questions and allowed for an exchange of their perceptions and relevant experiences (Bjerregaard, 2011). After achieving saturation, I entered the data into the NVivo10<sup>TM</sup> qualitative analysis software program used for data analysis. Using the modified van Kaam method of data analysis, the following emergent themes were: (a) openness, respect, and transparency when communicating a message; (b) positive communication promoted an engaged workforce; (c) favorable communication increases engagement for both the manager and employee; and (d) unproductive communication decreases engagement for both the manager and employee.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

I used participant interviews to obtain the data needed for this study. The data collected answered the following overarching research question: What communication

behaviors do managers use with their employees to improve employee engagement and productivity?

The data obtained for this study was via participant interviews. The data reached saturation when the interview responses became repetitive and no additional pertinent information came from participant interviews (Walker, 2012). I reached saturation after the 23rd participant interview. The first theme that emerged was openness, transparency, and respect when communicating a message from a manager to an employee. The second emergent was positive communication affects workforce engagement. The third emergent was favorable communication increases engagement for both the manager and employee. The fourth emergent theme was that unproductive communication decreases engagement for both the manager and employee. The noted themes were in alignment with the conceptual framework used for this study, which included systems theory and communications theory.

Due to the open-ended nature of the interview questions, participants were able to respond with varied levels of detail. When responding to the first question, each participant alluded to the organization type that classified his or her employer (i.e., public school system or local city government). Of the 11 managers who participated, six worked for a public school system in the Tidewater area and five worked for a local city government in the Tidewater area (see Table 1). Of the 12 nonmanagers that participated, five worked for a public school system in the Tidewater area and seven worked for a local city government in the Tidewater area (see Table 1). Table 1

Professional Affiliations of Participants

Participant type	Organization type	Number	% of total
All	Local government entity	23	100
Manager	Public school system	6	26
Manager	City government	5	22
Employee	Public school system	5	22
Employee	City government	7	30

## **Emergent Theme 1: Open, Respectful, and Transparent Communication**

Participant responses to the first and second interview questions were similar in spite of working for different government entities. Responses to Interview Questions 1 and 2 contributed to this theme. Employee Participant 2 stated, "Transparency in communication is essential to trusting not only the message but also in trusting my manager." Employee Participant 9 expressed, "I appreciate managers who are open when communicating with employees. I define open as not withholding information from employees." Manager Participant 4 stated, "I hate it when communication is condescending. I truly embrace respectful communication." He noted that respect in communication should flow both ways but should start with the manager, as the manager should lead by example. The data aligned with Kiyomiya's (2012) findings that stressed the importance of managers being forthright when communicating instead of employing deceptive techniques. Kiyomiya noted that managers should use the communication techniques of being (a) clear, (b) concise, (c) honest, and (d) consistent in daily interactions with employees.

When responding to the first and second interview questions, 22 participants used the terms *open, transparent*, and *respectful* in their answers. Based on the context of the interview responses, each term had an implied definition. The participants who responded with the terminology *open, transparent*, and *respectful* specified their thoughts on each term in the responses. When participants used the term *open* communication, the implied meaning was communication where all parties were able to express thoughts and ideas. *Transparent* communication implied giving the information others need to know what is occurring and to avoid surprises. Both transparent and open communication reduces uncertainty for employees (Homburg, Klarmann, & Staritz, 2012). *Respectful* communication implied providing undivided attention when another is speaking and confirming assumptions to avoid misunderstandings. When communication is respectful, there becomes an increased ability to manage conflict and stress (Moreland & Apker, 2015). Table 2 represents participant responses on effective organizational communication.

Table 2

Participant type	Participant answers	Number	Total
Manager	Open communication	5	45%
Manager	Transparent communication	3	27%
Manager	Respectful communication	2	18%
Manager	Fair communication	1	9%
Employee	Open communication	7	58%

Effective Organizational Communication

Employee	Transparent communication	4	33%
Employee	Respectful communication	1	8%

# **Emergent Theme 2: Positive Communication Promotes an Engaged Workforce**

Participant answers to the third and fourth interview questions were similar. The theme of positive communication increasing work engagement (from both the employee and manager perspective) emerged from this set of questions. Welch (2011) detailed how employees felt more engaged with daily work assignments when communication efforts from direct managers were positive. Some of the participants were able to provide specifics as to how favorable communication promoted happiness and increased their engagement within the workplace. Employee Participant 9 stated, "Talking to my supervisor in a productive way lessened stress and made me want to do a better job overall." Manager Participant 7 noted, "Positive communication with my employees brings a certain synergy to the workplace and boosts my confidence as a team leader."

Other participants were unable to provide specifics but simply noted they believed more involved with organizational goals when communication was fruitful. The data aligned with the findings of Karanges, Beatson, Johnston, and Lings (2014). Karanges et al. noted that while drivers of employee engagement consist of (a) apparent support, (b) job characteristics, and (c) value equivalence, managerial communication appears to influence both the process and preservation of employee engagement efforts. Overall, the authors concluded that communication is an integral part of the performance of employees (Karanges et al., 2014). Managers who are good communicators hold a powerful position within an organization (Welch, 2011). Managers with sound communication skills can influence the employee output as well as engage direct reports in an enlightened way (Welch, 2011). Table 3 represents participant responses on the effect positive communication had on work engagement.

Table 3

Positive Communication Effect on Work Engagement

Participant type	Participant answers	Number	Total	
Manager	Engagement increased	9	82%	
Manager	Engagement decreased	0	0%	
Manager	Engagement unchanged	2	18%	
Employee	Engagement increased	10	83%	
Employee	Engagement decreased	0	0%	
Employee	Engagement unchanged	2	17%	

# **Emergent Theme 3: Favorable Communication Increases Engagement**

Participant responses to the fifth question were similar across participant type. From the employee participant perspective, nine participants noted that positive communication with their supervisor increased overall desire to serve the respective agency. Employee Participant 11 said, "I enjoy my workplace so much more when I have a good relationship with my supervisor, part of that relationship being a great communication dynamic." Employee Participant 5 specifically stated, "I experienced an increased desire to engage at work due to a great communication rapport with my immediate supervisor."

From the managerial participant perspective, productive communication with employees positively affected engagement. Eight of the managerial participants felt better connected to their employees and workplace when communication was constructive, which increased their overall work engagement. Manager Participant 2 stated, "I am truly encouraged when I have a good, productive conversation with an employee that I supervise." Manager Participant 7 noted, "I tend to believe that I connect more with my employees through productive communication."

The response from nine of employee participants aligns with the data of Ho, Wong, and Lee (2011). Ho, Wong, and Lee explained that an employee has to possess two types of passions for full work engagement; harmonious passion and obsessive passion. Ho et al. further detailed that passion is a strong inclination towards an activity that employees find significant; once an employee identifies a passion or attainable goal within their work program, engagement increases. Perrewé, Hochwarter, Ferris, McAllister, and Harris (2014) described a passionate employee as one emotionally committed to their work and their organization. The participant responses also aligned with the description noted by Perrewé et al. (2014). Nine employee participants demonstrated passion for work engagement when responses implied that they felt an increased desire to serve their respective agency. Table 4 represents participant responses on how positive communication affects work engagement.

Table 4

Ways Positive Communication Affects Work Engagement

Participant ty	pe Participant answers	Number	Total
Manager	Better connected to employees/workplac	e 8	73%
Manager	No additional effect	3	27%

Employee	Increased desire to serve agency	9	75%
Employee	No additional effect	3	25%

## **Emergent Theme 4: Negative Communication Decreases Engagement**

The fifth question also revealed the fourth emergent theme. Counterproductive or strained communication with his or her supervisor made most employee participants disconnected from their work program and influenced performance negatively. Employee Participant 6 described an experience with a manager who used condescending language and tone when speaking with employees. The participant continued to note, "I strongly disliked working with this supervisor and overtime became withdrawn from my work assignments." Employee Participant 10 stated, "I had numerous arguments with my immediate manager due to communication differences that made me purposely compromise project deadlines." The employee responses to this question aligned with the research of Men (2014). Men stated that disengaged employees (a) complete the minimum amount of work to stay employed, (b) are resistant to change, (c) allow negative attitudes to infiltrate the organization, and (d) view work as a chore. Employee participant responses indicated a resistance to change and only wanting to complete the minimum amount of work. In addition, there was an indication that employees became withdrawn from the work program when disengaged. Pater and Lewis (2012) further elaborated that disengaged employees as those who passively withdraw from work and display active resistance to new ideas.

Managerial participants questioned their managerial efficacy when communication with employees was combative or ill received, which had a damaging effect on work engagement. Seven manager participants alluded to feeling a sense of defeat when unable to connect with employees when communicating. Manager Participant 10 specifically recalled an instance where an employee, frustrated by what they considered a lack of direction on her part, had cursed her out. Manager Participant 10 stated, "The employee in question said I didn't give her clear direction on a task. When I asked her to explain what she meant, she hurled curse words at me. Needless to say, our communication stopped immediately."

Seven of the managerial participant responses mimicked the data of Khan and Ahmad (2012). Khan and Ahmad analyzed managerial interpersonal skills (ability to motivate, communicate, and build a team) and their effectiveness at different levels of management. Khan and Ahmad found that a manager's capability to motivate employees via communication is a vital interpersonal skill. Additionally, Howard (2015) elaborated on interpersonal skills within the workplace. Howard noted that interpersonal skills are the tools individuals use to relate and communicate with colleagues in an organizational environment. Robles (2012) discussed soft skills as being an internal quality that an individual possesses. When managers were unable to communicate with employees effectively, they began to question their interpersonal skills. Table 5 represents participant responses on how negative or unproductive communication affects work engagement.

Table 5

#### Effects of Negative Communication on Work Engagement

Participant type	Participant answers	Number	Total
------------------	---------------------	--------	-------

Manager	Question managerial efficacy/interpersonal skills	7	63%
Manager	No additional effect	4	36%
Employee	Negatively affects work performance	11	92%
Employee	No additional effect	1	8%

The emergent themes from the data analysis aligned with systems theory and communications theory as detailed in the conceptual framework. Systems theory in relation to organizational success is dependent upon (a) synergy, (b) interrelations, and (c) co-dependence between different subsystems (von Bertalanffy, 1950). Instead of reducing an entity to the properties of its parts or essentials, systems theory focuses on the collection of and relations between the parts that attach them into a whole (Kast & Rosenzweig, 1972). Employees encompass a vital subsystem within an organization that promotes organizational success (Ingram, 2013). In this study, the two relevant subsystems were managers and the employee workforce. The results of the study are in concert with systems theory in that (a) leadership communication is integral to employee engagement and (b) employee/manager relations are an important component of an organizational entity (Ingram, 2013).

The results of the study also aligned with communications theory. The focal point of communications theory is the transmission of information between people (Bannerman & Haggart, 2015). With communications theory, the environmental context message delivery can have an effect on the fidelity of communication (Duncan, 1973). Within a communication system, shared understanding is fundamental to success (Duncan, 1973). Duncan (1973) detailed that communal understanding means that an individual reacts to communication in a manner relative to his ends. Therefore, when employees and managers understand each other they respond to one another in a more productive, collaborative manner (Duncan, 1973). Further, Ng and Feldman (2013) concluded that language and communication allow people to develop a sense of self and to interact with others in the community.

# **Applications to Professional Practice**

A number of variables play a part in establishing and maintaining effective communication between manager and employee, which in turn influences employee engagement. Understanding the mutual expectation of positive and productive communication exchange between manager and employee may improve overall engagement as well as employee retention. Twenty-two of the participants stated that (a) openness, respect, and transparency are needed when communicating a message; (b) positive communication promoted an engaged workforce; and (c) favorable communication increases engagement for both the manager and employee, significantly improving worker engagement. Eighteen participants also noted that unproductive communication decreases engagement for both the manager and employee. This study will add to the existing body of knowledge on employee engagement factors and provides organizations with resources to use to develop and train managers on effective communication strategies.

I identified common variables that contribute to effective communication and employee engagement. The first common variable was communication that was open, respectful, and transparent. The second common variable was the connection between effective communication and an engaged workforce. The third common variable was increased engagement was due in part to favorable communication. Organizational leaders may use the findings (a) in meetings, (b) presentations, or (c) other training efforts to encourage management communication practices that positively affect employee engagement. Based on the findings of the study, management communication practices that increase employee engagement were (a) honest communication, (b) open communication, (c) transparent communication, and (d) positive communication.

Managers can use the findings from this study to develop and reinforce communication strategies that improve the dynamic between managers and employees. For example, executives might gear management training toward communication styles and how each style influences employee engagement. Conversely, executives may also choose to develop training on least effective communication styles and how those styles decrease employee engagement. Developing communication strategies that positively affect employee engagement could lead to better organizational productivity and less employee turnover.

Organizational leaders might use the findings from this study to create management training and strategies that improve employee engagement, in turn minimizing employee turnover. Embedding positive communication strategies in the organizational employee retention plan may keep productive employees from leaving the company. When an organization's employees are productive, organizational success may improve.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The results of the study could facilitate a constructive change within organizations by creating awareness around communication strategies employed by management that, in turn, could influence employee engagement. A productive organization may contribute to society in a positive manner; for instance, educated students are an output of a well-managed school division which should affect society positively (Merrifield, 2013). If employees are engaged in their work, turnover within an organization may decrease (Siddiqi, 2013). Lower turnover in organizations may lower the national unemployment rate; as employees perform better, a reduction in turnover may occur.

A lower unemployment rate may lessen the overall burden on government and society as a whole. In economic cycles where there are low rates of unemployment there is (a) greater economic activity, (b) stronger demand for workers, and (c) a higher demand for goods and services (Shimer, 2012). Employees tend to earn higher wages and gain more economic power. They also have more taxable income, which means more revenue for state and federal governments (Shimer, 2012). Understanding the contribution of an engaged workforce on society as a whole may influence organizations to place more emphasis on improving and maintaining employee engagement.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

The findings within the study could assist organizations with implementation of effective management communication strategies. Organizations need to understand the connection between effective communication and employee engagement. Understanding the influence managerial communication has on employee engagement affects

organizational success, as a breakdown in communication can lead to reduced productivity throughout the organization (Bisel et al., 2012). An organization may run the risk of losing qualified employees if managers are unable to communicate a message in a favorable way.

I recommend that organizations use the findings to train managers on effective communication strategies. For instance, organizations might mandate a communication training course for all newly hired managers focusing solely on favorable communication strategies when supervising employees. The communication strategies should focus on improving the communication relationship between managers and employees. Improving the communication dynamic between managers and employees can improve work processes, strengthen manager-employee relationships, and reinforce the idea that management cares about promoting a positive dynamic between supervisors and employees (Welch, 2011).

I recommend distributing and sharing study findings at business management, academic, and professional conferences. I also recommend sharing research findings within academic research journals, organizations, and publications such as Academy of Management Journal and Journal of Business Ethics. Executives and managers attend professional seminars and read academic journals and publications. By sharing the study findings in the manners suggested, the likelihood of reaching an intended management audience might be increased.

The findings of this study may apply to various types of organizations; organizations may use this study improve managerial communication strategies and employee engagement. Specifically, organizations could use study findings to train management staff on favorable communication strategies and techniques. By focusing on communication training, organizations may in turn increase overall employee engagement.

# **Recommendations for Further Research**

There was a limited amount of research on managerial communication strategies that organizations could employee to positively affect employee engagement. There is a need to conduct studies in the United States on managerial communication strategies and the overall effect on employee engagement. More specifically, I suggest additional investigation on how positive communication between a manager and employee increases managerial work engagement. The research results indicated that the managerial participants felt more engaged in their work when message delivery was successful. Increasing awareness on this subject may provide organizations with the resources needed to improve management communication strategies along with improving employee engagement.

I recommend additional research within organizations or industries that report low employee engagement among staff members. Although I conducted research on public, government agencies, I suggest conducting research on both public and private organizations to see if communication strategies differ between industry types. I suggest using the descriptive research design with an interview as the data collection instrument. Interviewing individuals on their personal, lived experiences adds a unique perspective to the data. I also encourage further study on communication vocal tone and employee receptivity to managerial directives. I believe these topics are natural counterparts to managerial communication. Conducting a descriptive research study on these topics may provide organizations with additional resources to improve employee engagement. These types of studies may significantly contribute to the literature on employee engagement factors and organizational processes.

# Reflections

Completing the Doctorate of Business Administration Doctoral Study process was a great learning experience for me. I have gained more insight into the manageremployee dynamic, specifically pertaining to the importance of communication between managers and the workforce. Throughout the process, I diligently attempted to minimize error and bias. Following the interview protocol and mitigating bias were of utmost importance in this process. I facilitated a state of epoche during the interviews and made sure that I did not personally know any of the participants. The intent of the research was to explore the lived experiences of managers and non-management employees who work for a local, government entity in the Tidewater, Virginia, area to gauge perceptions of effective communication and the effect on employee engagement. The research process was a backdrop and foundation of the issue from multiple perspectives. When collecting the data, the participants and I conversed by means of open-ended interview questions. The participants answered all questions without hesitation and with an eagerness to share their personal experiences on the subject. During the course of the interviews, I realized the importance of the manageremployee communication dynamic and how that dynamic influences employee engagement from both ends of the spectrum. Employee participants were concerned about the transparency of messages that come from management and the disrespectful manner in which management communicated certain messages. Management participants were concerned that failed communication was an indication that they possessed poor soft skills. Overall, the common need for respect and openness when communicating reverberated through the majority of interviews completed.

As someone who has been both an employee and manager, I can relate to the concerns noted on both ends of the participant spectrum. As an employee, I was sensitive to the communication style of my immediate supervisor. As a manager, I am cognizant of the way that I deliver messages to my employees. The major change in my thinking after completing the study is the fact that organizations should focus more on training managers on effective communication strategies while stressing to employees the importance of receptiveness when management is delivering a message.

#### **Summary and Study Conclusions**

The purpose for this qualitative descriptive study was to explore effective communication behaviors managers use to improve employee engagement and organizational productivity. I collected data using semistructured interviews as the collection tool. I interviewed 23 participants to obtain data for the study. Saturation occurs when the researcher collects data to the point of diminishing returns (Walker, 2012). I reached saturation when the data became repetitive and without the addition of new information.

Upon completion of coding and analysis of the data, four main themes became evident. I connected each emergent theme back to the literature, existing body of knowledge, general systems theory, and communications theory. My findings of the study clearly suggested that the themes of (a) openness, respect and transparency when a message is being communicated; (b) positive communication promoted an engaged workforce; (c) favorable communication increases engagement for both the manager and employee; and (d) unproductive communication decreases engagement for both the manager and employee may assist organizations in developing communication strategies that positively affect employee engagement leading to better organizational productivity and less employee turnover.

#### References

- Aburge, J. (2011). Appraising the impact of organizational communication on worker satisfaction in organizational workplace. *Problems of Management in the 21st Century, 1*, 7–15.
- Adleman, K. (2012). Promoting employee voice and upward communication in healthcare: The CEO's influence. *Journal of Healthcare Management*, 57(2), 133–147.
- Aguinis, H., Gottfredson, R. K., & Joo, H. (2012). Using performance management to win the talent war. *Business Horizons*, 55(6), 609–616.
  doi:10.1016/j.bushor.2012.05.007
- Al-Yateem, N. (2012). The effect of interview recording on quality of data obtained: A methodological reflection. *Nurse Researcher*, *4*, 31–35.
  doi:10.7748/nr2012.07.19.4.31.c9222
- Alvesson, M., & Sandberg, J. (2011). Generating research questions through problematization. *Academy of Management Review*, *36*(2), 247–271.
- Anyan, F. (2013). The influence of power shifts in data collection and analysis stages: A focus on qualitative research interview. *The Qualitative Report, 18*(18), 1–9.
- Bannerman, S., & Haggart, B. (2015). Historical institutionalism in communication studies. *Communication Theory*, 25(1), 1–22. doi:10.1111/comt.12051
- Belmont Report. (1979). Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.

- Berens, R. (2013). The roots of employee engagement: A strategic approach. *Employment Relations Today*, *40*(3), 43–49. doi:10.1002/ert.21420
- Bernauer, J. A. (2015). Opening the ears that science closed: Transforming qualitative data using oral coding. *The Qualitative Report*, *20*(4), 406–415.
- Bisel, R., Messersmith, A., & Kelley, K. (2012). Supervisor-subordinate communication:
  Hierarchal mum effect meets organizational learning. *Journal of Business Communication, 49*(2), 128–147. doi:10.1177/0021943612436972
- Bluhm, D. J., Harman, W., Lee, T. W., & Mitchell, T. R. (2011). Qualitative research in management: A decade of progress. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48, 1866– 1891. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2010.00972.x
- Boykins, C., Campbell, S., Moore, M., & Nayyar, S. (2013). An empirical study of leadership styles. *Journal of Economic Development, Management, IT, Finance* and Marketing, 5(2), 1–31.
- Bickman, L., & Rog, D. (1998). Handbook of applied social research methods. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Bjerregaard, T. (2011). Institutional change at the frontlines: A comparative ethnography of divergent responses to institutional demands. *Qualitative Research in Organizations and Management: An International Journal, 6*, 26–45. doi:10.1108/17465641111129371
- Buble, M. (2012). Interdependence of organizational culture and leadership styles in large firms. *Management: Journal of Contemporary Management Issues*, 17(2), 85–97.

- Burris, E. (2012). The risks and rewards of speaking up: Managerial responses to employee voice. *Academy of Management Journal*, 55, 851–875. doi:10.5465/amj.2010.0562
- Burris, E. R., Detert, J. R., & Romney, A. C. (2013). Speaking up vs. being heard: The disagreement around and outcomes of employee voice. *Organization Science*, 24(1), 22–38. doi:10.1287/orsc.1110.0732
- Byrne, M., Flood, B., & Shanahan, D. (2012). A qualitative exploration of oral communication apprehension. *Accounting Education: An International Journal,* 21, 565–581. doi:10.1080/09639284.2012.725636
- Cardus, M. (2013). The five levers of employee engagement. *The Journal for Quality and Participation, 36*(2), 28–31.
- Carter, D., & Baghurst, T. (2014). The influence of servant leadership on restaurant employee engagement. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *124*, 453–464. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1882-0
- Cayla, J., & Arnould, E. (2013). Ethnographic stories for market learning. *Journal of Marketing*, 77(4), 1–16. doi:10.1509/jm.12.0471
- Charmaz, K., & McMullen, L. M. (2011). *Five ways of doing qualitative analysis: Phenomenological psychology, grounded theory, discourse analysis, narrative research, and intuitive inquiry*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Christian, M., Garza, A., & Slaughter, J. (2011). Work engagement: A quantitative review and test of its relations with task and contextual performance. *Personnel Psychology*, 64(1), 89–136. doi:10.1111/j.1744-6570.2010.01203.x

- Church, A. (2013). Engagement is in the eye of the beholder: Understanding differences in the OD vs. talent management mindset. *OD Practitioner*, 45(2), 42 48.
- Cleary, M., Horsfall, J., & Hayter, M. (2014). Data collection and sampling in qualitative research: Does size matter? *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, 70: 473–475. doi:10.1111/jan.12163
- Copeland, A. J., & Agosto, D. E. (2012). Diagrams and relational maps: The use of graphic elicitation techniques with interviewing for data collection, analysis, and display. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *11*(5), 513–533. doi:10.1177/160940691201100501
- Creelman, V. (2012). The case for "living" models. *Business Communication Quarterly*, 75(2), 176–191. doi:10.1177/1080569912442981
- Cridland, E. K., Jones, S. C., Caputi, P., & Magee, C. A. (2015). Qualitative research with families living with autism spectrum disorder: Recommendations for conducting semistructured interviews. *Journal of Intellectual and Developmental Disability*, 40(1), 78–91. doi:10.3109/13668250.2014.964191
- Daniela, P. (2013). The interdependence between management, communication, organizational behavior and performance. Annals of the University of Oradea, Economic Science Series, 22, 1554–1562.
- Dasgupta, S., Suar, D., & Singh, S. (2013). Impact of managerial communication styles on employees' attitudes and behaviors. *Employee Relations*, 35(2), 173–199. doi:10.1108/01425451311287862

- Day, N. (2011). Perceived pay communication, justice and pay satisfaction. *Employee Relations*, *33*(5), 476–497. doi:10.1108/01425451111153862
- Deepa, R., & Karthikeyan, P. (2012). Management by values- The road to success. *Advances in Management*, *5*(12), 6–9.
- Doody, O., & Noonan, M. (2013). Preparing and conducting interviews to collect data. *Nurse Researcher*, *20*(5), 28–32. doi:10.7748/nr2013.05.20.5.28.e327
- Draper, A., & Swift, J. (2011). Qualitative research in nutrition and dietetics: Data collection issues. *Journal of Human Nutrition & Dietetics*, 24(1), 3–12. doi:10.1111/j.1365-277X.2010.01117.x
- Dubé, T. V., Schinke, R. J., Strasser, R., & Lightfoot, N. (2014). Interviewing in situ: employing the guided walk as a dynamic form of qualitative inquiry. *Medical Education*, 48(11), 1092–1100. doi:10.1111/medu.12532
- Duncan, W. (1973). Communications theory and problems of knowledge flow in management. *Journal of Business Communication*, *11*(1), 3–14.
- Einwiller, S., & Boenjik, M. (2012). Examining the link between integrated communication management and communication effectiveness in medium-sized enterprises. *Journal of Marketing Communications, 18*(5), 335–361. doi:10.1080/13527266.2010.530055
- Elo, S., Kääriäinen, M., Kanste, O., Pölkki, T., Utriainen, K., & Kyngäs, H. (2014).
  Qualitative content analysis: A focus on trustworthiness. *SAGE Open, 1*, 1–10. doi:10.1177/2158244014522633

- Emanoil, M., Ramona, T., & Lucia, F. (2013). Efficient organizational communication- A key to success. *Studies in Business & Economics*, 8(2), 74–78.
- Englander, M. (2012). The interview: Data collection in descriptive phenomenological human scientific research. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, *43*(1), 13–35. doi:10.1163/156916212x632943
- Evangelista, F., Poon, P., & Albaum, G. (2012). Using response behavior theory to solicit survey participation in consumer research: An empirical study. *Journal of Marketing Management, 28*, 1174–1189. doi:10.1080/0267257X.2011.619148
- Fletcher, J., & Conley, D. (2013). The challenge of causal inference in gene-environment interaction research: Leveraging research designs from the social sciences. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(S1), 42–45.

doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301290

- Fulmer, C., & Gelfand, M. (2012). At what level (and in whom) we trust: Trust across multiple organizational levels. *Journal of Management*, 38, 1167–1230. doi:10.1177/0149206312439327
- Gabriele, E. (2012). Stewarding the human good: Understanding the nature of research and its ethical horizons. *Journal of Research Administration*, 43(1), 112–122.
- Gale, N. K., Heath, G., Cameron, E., Rashid, S., & Redwood, S. (2013). Using the framework method for the analysis of qualitative data in multi-disciplinary health research. *BMC medical research methodology*, *13*(1), 117. doi:10.1186/1471-2288-13-117

- Garcia, H. (2012). Leadership communications: Planning for the desired reaction. *Strategy & Leadership*, *40*(6), 42–45. doi:10.1108/10878571211278886
- Gerst, R. (2013). Understanding employee engagement and trust. *The Journal for Quality* & *Participation, 35*(4), 32–36.
- Giorgi, A. (2012). The descriptive phenomenological psychological method. *Journal of Phenomenological Psychology*, 43(1), 3–12. doi:10.1163/156916212X632934
- Gloe, D., Sando, C. R., Franklin, A. E., Boese, T., Decker, S., Lioce, L., & Borum, J. C. (2013). Standards of best practice: Simulation standard II: Professional integrity of participant (s). *Clinical Simulation in Nursing*, 9(6), 12–14. doi:10.1016/j.ecns.2013.04.004
- Goodman, J. K., Cryder, C. E., & Cheema, A. (2013). Data collection in a flat world: The strengths and weaknesses of Mechanical Turk samples. *Journal of Behavioral Decision Making*, 26(3), 213–224. doi:10.1002/bdm.1753
- Golicic, S., & Davis, D. (2012). Implementing mixed methods research in supply chain management. *International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, 42*, 726–741. doi:10.1108/09600031211269721
- Grandien, C., & Johanson, C. (2012). Institutionalization of communication management: A theoretical framework. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal,* 17(2), 209–227. doi:10.1108/13563281211220247
- Grant, A. M. (2013). Rocking the boat but keeping it steady: The role of emotion regulation in employee voice. *Academy of Management Journal*, 56(6), 1703–1723. doi:10.5465/amj.2011.0035

- Guangming, W., Wenjuan, S., & Jinjin, S. (2014). The psychological structures model of highly effective mathematics learning based on the NVivo10 qualitative analysis. *Studies of Psychology and Behavior*, 1, 1–13.
- Hall, R., & Jurow, A. S. (2015). Changing concepts in activity: Descriptive and design studies of consequential learning in conceptual practices. *Educational Psychologist*, *50*(3), 173–189. doi:10.1080/00461520.2015.1075403
- Hamdi, S., & Rajablu, M. (2012). Effect of supervisor-subordinate communication and leadership style on organizational commitment of nurses in health care setting. *International Journal of Business and Management*, *7(23)*, 7–18. doi:10.5539/ijbm.v7n23p7
- Handa, M., & Gulati, A. (2014). Employee engagement: Does individual personality matter. *Journal of Management Research*, *14*(1), 57–67.
- Harrison, A. (2012). 5 steps to employee engagement: Improving your goals for organizational success. *Public Relations Tactics*, 10, 1–2.
- Harper, M., & Cole, P. (2012). Member checking: Can benefits be gained similar to group therapy. *The Qualitative Report, 17*(2), 510–517.
- Hartas, D. (Ed.). (2015). *Educational research and inquiry: Qualitative and quantitative approaches*. New York, NY: Bloomsbury Publishing.
- Hassan, S., & Hatmaker, D. M. (2014). Leadership and performance of public
  employees: Effects of the quality and characteristics of manager-employee
  relationships. *Journal of Public Administration Research and Theory, 20*(1), 15–25. doi:10.1093/jopart/muu002

- Hays, D., & Wood, C. (2011). Infusing qualitative traditions in counseling research designs. *Journal of Counseling & Development*, 89(3), 288–295.
- He, H., Zhu, W., & Zheng, X. (2014). Procedural justice and employee engagement:
  Roles of organizational identification and moral identity centrality. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *122*, 681–695. doi:10.1007/s10551-013-1774-3
- Heffetz, O., & Ligett, K. (2014). Privacy and data-based research. *Journal of Economic Perspectives*, 28(2), 75–98. doi:10.1257/jep.28.2.75
- Hermanowicz, J. (2013). The longitudinal qualitative interview. *Qualitative Sociology*, *36*(2), 189–208. doi:10.1007/s11133-013-9247-7
- Herreid, C. F., Schiller, N. A., Herreid, F. K., & Wright, C. (2012). My favorite case and what makes it so. *Journal of College Science Teaching*, *42*, 70–75.
- Ho, V., Wong, S., & Lee, C. (2011). A tale of passion: Linking job passion and cognitive engagement to employee work performance. *Journal of Management Studies*, 48(1), 26–47. doi:10.1111/j.1467-6486.2009.00878.x
- Homburg, C., Klarmann, M., & Staritz, S. (2012). Customer uncertainty following downsizing: the effects of extent of downsizing and open communication. *Journal* of Marketing, 76(3), 112–130. doi:10.1509/jm.09.0486
- Hoover, S., & Morrow, S. L. (2015). Qualitative Researcher Reflexivity: A Follow-Up Study with Female Sexual Assault Survivors. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1476–1489.

- Howard, D. M. (2015). How health management leaders evaluate the interpersonal skills of US business and health management-trained professionals. *Medical Research Archives*, (3), 44 – 45. doi:10.18103/mra.v0i3.288
- Hyett, N., Kenny, A., & Dickson-Swift, V. (2014). Methodology or method? A critical review of qualitative case study reports. *International Journal of Qualitative Studies on Health and Well-being*, 9, 1–14. doi:10.3402/qhw.v9.23606
- Ingram, J. (2013). Appreciative leadership and opportunity: Centric approaches to organization success. *Organization Development Journal*, *31*(2), 48–53.
- Iyer, S., & Israel, D. (2012). Structural equation modeling for testing the impact of organization communication satisfaction on employee engagement. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 19(1), 51–81.
- Johnson, J. (2015). Qualitative sales research: An exposition of grounded theory. *Journal of Personal Selling & Sales Management*, 35(3), 262–273.
  doi:10.1080/08853134.2014.954581
- Joy, S., & Poonamallee, L. (2014). Intra-and inter-organizational controls in outsourcing: Controlees' perspectives. Academy of Management Proceedings, 2014(1), 14036. doi:10.5465/AMBPP.2014.32
- Kapoor, S., & Meachem, A. (2012). Employee engagement-A bond between employee and organization. *Amity Global Business Review*, 7, 14–21.
- Karanges, E., Beatson, A., Johnston, K., & Lings, I. (2014). Optimizing employee engagement with internal communication: A social exchange perspective. *Journal* of Business Market Management, 7, 329–353.

- Kassing, J., Piemonte, N., Goman, C., & Mitchell, C. (2012). Dissent expression as an indicator of work engagement and intention to leave. *Journal of Business Communication*, 49(3), 237–253. doi:10.1177/0021943612446751
- Kast, F., & Rosenzweig, J. (1972). General systems theory: Applications for organizations and management. *Academy of Management Journal*, 15, 447–465. doi: 10.2307/255141
- Keyton, J., Caputo, J., Ford, E., Fu, R., Leibowitz, S., Lui, T., Polasik, S., Ghosh, P., &
  Wu, C. (2013). Investigating verbal workplace behaviors. *Journal of Business Communication*, *50*(2), 152–169. doi:10.1177/0021943612474990
- Khan, A., & Ahmad, W. (2012). Leader's interpersonal skills and its effectiveness at different levels of management. *International Journal of Business and Social Science*, 3(4), 296–305.
- Khan, A., Kolts, R. L., Thase, M. E., Krishnan, K. R. R., & Brown, W. (2015). Research design features and patient characteristics associated with the outcome of antidepressant clinical trials. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161(11), 2045– 2049.
- Khan, S. (2014). Qualitative research method: Phenomenology. *Asian Social Science*, *10*(21), 278–298. doi:10.5539/ass.v10n21p298
- Kirzinger, A., Weber, C., & Johnson, M. (2012). Genetic and environmental influences on media use and communication behaviors. *Human Communication Research*, 38, 144–171. doi:10.1111/j.1468-2958.2011.01424.x

Kiyomiya, T. (2012). Collaborative organizational communication and its impact on ethical dilemmas. *International Studies of Management and Organization*, 42(3), 49–68. doi:10.2753/IMO0020-8825420303

Koch, L. C., Niesz, T., & McCarthy, H. (2013). Understanding and reporting qualitative research: An analytical review and recommendations for submitting authors. *Rehabilitation Counseling Bulletin*, 57, 131–146. doi:10.1177/0034355213502549

- Kyriazis, E., Couchman, P., & Johnson, L. (2012). Psychosocial antecedents of communication, trust, and relationship effectiveness in new product development projects: A functional manager perspective. *R & D Management*, *42*(3), 207–221. doi:0.1111/j.1467-9310.2012.00679.x
- Lee, C. (2012). Deconstructing organizational communication for (productive) dissensus. *Journal of Organizational Transformation & Social Change*, 9(3), 217–226. doi:10.1386/jots.9.3.217\_1
- Leech, N. L., Collins, K. M., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2014). Collecting qualitative data for social network analysis and data mining. *Encyclopedia of Social Network Analysis and Mining*, 1, 124–133. doi:10.1007/978-1-4614-6170-8\_395
- Lincoln, Y. S., & Guba, E. G. (1985). *Naturalist inquiry*. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage Publications.
- Lowe, G. (2012). How employee engagement matters for hospital performance. *Healthcare Quarterly*, *15*(2), 29–39.

- Ludwig, S., de Ruyter, K., Mahr, D., Wetzels, M., Bruggen, E., & de Ruyck, T. (2014).
  Take their word for it: The symbolic role of linguistic style matches in user communities. *MIS Quarterly, 38*, 1201–1218.
- Mahajan, A., Bishop, J., & Scott, D. (2012). Does trust in top management mediate top management communication, employee involvement and organizational commitment relationships? *Journal of Managerial Issues*, 24(2), 173–190.
- Marshall, B., Cardon, P., Poddar, A., & Fontenot, R. (2013). Does sample size matter in qualitative research? A review of qualitative interviews in IS research. *Journal of Computer Information Systems*, 54(1), 11–22.

doi:10.1080/08874417.2013.11645667

- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2015). *Designing qualitative research (6<sup>th</sup> ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Martin, K., & Parmar, B. (2012). Assumptions in decision making scholarship:
  Implications for business ethics research. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 105(3), 289–306. doi:10.1007/s10551-011-0965-z
- Mazzei, A., & Ravanzzani, S. (2011). Manager-employee communication during a crisis: The missing link. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 16(3), 243–254. doi:10.1108/13563281111156899
- McGonagle, K. A., Brown, C., & Schoeni, R. F. (2015). The effects of respondents' consent to be recorded on interview length and data quality in a national panel study. *Field Methods*, 27(4), 373–390. doi:10.1177/1525822X15569017

Memon, M., Salleh, R., Baharom, M., & Harun, H. (2014). Person-organization fit and turnover intention: The mediating role of employee engagement. *Global Business & Management Research: An International Journal, 6*(3), 205–209.

Men, L. R. (2012). CEO credibility, perceived organizational reputation, and employee engagement. *Public Relations Review*, 38(1), 171–173. doi:10.1016/j.pubrev.2011.12.011

- Men, L. R. (2014). Strategic internal communication: Transformational leadership, communication channels, and employee satisfaction. *Management Communication Quarterly*, 28(2), 264–284. doi:10.1177/0893318914524536
- Mercieca, D., & Mercieca, D. (2013). Engagement with research: Acknowledging uncertainty in methodology. *International Journal of Research & Method in Education*, 36(3), 228–240. doi:10.1080/1743727X.2013.806470
- Merrifield, J. (2013). Assessing the market metaphor for school systems—Market failure versus political process failure: Comment on Brent Beal's and Heather Olson Beal's "Rethinking the Market Metaphor: School Choice, the Common Good, and the National Football League." *Journal of School Choice*, 7(4), 498–504. doi:10.1080/15582159.2013.839914
- Michel, E. J., Wayne, S. J., & Liao, C. (2015). Beyond performance: Examining the role of work engagement on employee voice and success. *Academy of Management Proceedings*, 1, 177–186. doi:10.5465/AMBPP.2015.17776abstrac
- Miller, K. (2013). Organizational communication: Approaches and processes (7<sup>th</sup> ed.). Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning.

Mneimneh, A. S., Boulet, S. L., Sunderam, S., Zhang, Y., Jamieson, D. J., Crawford, S.,
& Cohen, B. (2013). States monitoring assisted reproductive technology
(SMART) collaborative: Data collection, linkage, dissemination, and use. *Journal* of Women's Health, 22(7), 571–577. doi:10.1089/jwh.2013.4452

Molina-Azorin, J. F., Bergh, D., Corley, K., & Ketchen, D. (2014). Mixed Methods in the Organizational Sciences. *Organizational Research Methods*, 17(2), 111–112. doi:10.1177/1094428114522582

- Mone, E., Eisinger, C., Guggenheim, K., Price, B., & Stine, C. (2011). Performance management at the wheel: Driving employee engagement in organizations.
   *Journal of Business Psychology*, 26, 205–212. doi:10.1007/s10869-011-9222-9
- Moreland, J., & Apker, J. (2015). Conflict and stress in hospital nursing: Improving communicative responses to enduring professional challenges. Health *Communication*, 1, 1–9. doi:10.1080/10410236.2015.1007548
- Morse, J. M., & Coulehan, J. (2015). Maintaining confidentiality in qualitative publications. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25(2), 151–152.
  doi:10.1177/1049732314563489
- Moustakas, C. (1994). *Phenomenological research methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Mulej M, Potocan V, Zenko Z, Kaizer, S., Ursic, D., Knez-Riedl, J., Lynn, M., &
  Ovsenik, J. (2004). How to restore Bertalanffian systems thinking. *Kybernetes*, 33, 48–61. doi:10.1108/03684920410514346

- Muswazi, M., & Nhamo, E. (2013). Note taking: A lesson for novice qualitative researchers. *Journal of Research and Method in Education*, *2*(3), 13–17.
- Neves, P., & Eisenberger, R. (2012). Management communication and employee performance: The contribution of perceived organizational support. *Human Performance*, 25, 452–464. doi:10.1080/08959285.2012.721834
- Ng, T., & Feldman, D. (2013). Changes in perceived supervisor embeddedness: Effects on employees' embeddedness, organizational trust, and voice behavior. *Personnel Psychology*, 66, 645–685. doi:10.1111/peps.12025
- O'Reilly, M., & Parker, N. (2012). Unsatisfactory saturation: A critical exploration of the notion of saturated sample sizes in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 13(2), 190–197. doi:10.1177/1468794112446106
- Overgaard, S. (2015). How to do things with brackets: The epoché explained. *Continental Philosophy Review*, *43*, 1–17. doi:10.1007/s11007-015-9322-8
- Pater, R., & Lewis, C. (2012). Strategies for leading engagement. *Professional Safety*, 57(5), 32–35.
- Perko, K., Kinnunen, U., & Feldt, T. (2014). Transformational leadership and depressive symptoms among employees: Mediating factors. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 35(4), 286–304. doi:10.1108/LODJ-07-2012-0082

Perrewé, P. L., Hochwarter, W. A., Ferris, G. R., McAllister, C. P., & Harris, J. N. (2014). Developing a passion for work passion: Future directions on an emerging construct. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 35(1), 145–150. doi:10.1002/job.1902 Polito, J. (2013). Effective communication during difficult conversations. *The* 

Neurodiagnostic Journal, 53(2), 142–152. doi:10.1080/21646821.2013.11079899

- Polkinghorne, D. (2005). Language and meaning: Data collection in qualitative research. Journal of Counseling Psychology, 52(2), 137–145. doi:10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.137
- Prottas, D. (2013). Relationships among employee perception of their manager's behavioral integrity, moral distress, and employee attitudes and well-being.
   *Journal of Business Ethics*, *113*(1), 51–60. doi:10.1007/s10551-012-1280-z

Ratley, J. (2013). Become a better interviewer. Internal Auditor, 1, 64-69.

- Resnick, D. (2012). Ethical values in scientific research. *Accountability in Research, 19*, 329–343. doi:10.1080/08989621.2012.728908
- Riddell, P. (2013). Rallying the troops: Crisis communication and reputation management in financial services. *Journal of Brand Strategy*, 2(3), 222–227.
- Robles, M. (2012). Executive perceptions of the top 10 soft skills needed in today's workplace. *Business Communication Quarterly*, *75*, 453–465. doi:10.1177/1080569912460400
- Rodell, J. B., Breitsohl, H., Schröder, M., & Keating, D. J. (2016). Employee volunteering a review and framework for future research. *Journal of Management*, 42(1), 55–84. doi:10.1177/0149206315614374
- Rowley, J. (2012). Conducting research interviews. *Management Research Review*, 35(3), 260–271. doi:10.1108/01409171211210154

- Roy, K., Zvonkovic, A., Goldberg, A., Sharp, E., & LaRossa, R. (2015). Sampling richness and qualitative integrity: Challenges for research with families. *Journal* of Marriage and Family, 77(1), 243–260. doi:10.1111/jomf.12147
- Rubin, H. J., & Rubin, I. S. (2012). *Qualitative interviewing: The art of hearing data (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.)*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Russ, T. (2012). The relationship between communication apprehension and learning preferences in an organizational setting. *Journal of Business Communication*, 49, 312–331. doi:10.1177/0021943612456035
- Sahoo, C., & Mishra, S. (2012). A framework towards employee engagement: The PSU experience. *ASCI Journal of Management*, *42*(1), 94–112.
- Sallee, M., & Flood, J. (2013). Using qualitative research to bridge research, policy and practice. *Theory into Practice*, *51*, 137–144. doi:10.1080/00405841.2012.662873
- Sangster-Gormley, E. (2013). How case-study research can help to explain implementation of the nurse practitioner role. *Nurse researcher*, 20, 6–11. doi:10.7748/nr2013.03.20.4.6.e291
- Sarangi, S., & Srivastava, R. (2012). Impact of organizational culture and communication on employee engagement: An investigation of Indian private banks. *South Asian Journal of Management*, 19(3), 18–33.
- Sawhney, H. (2013). Analytics of organized spontaneity: Rethinking participant selection, interaction format, and milieu for academic forums. *Information Society*, 29(2), 78–87. doi:10.1080/01972243.2013.758470

- Schmidt, D. I. A. (2014). Landscape stories: Using narrative methods for collaborative design-research processes. *Design Cognition and Behavior: Usability in the Built Environment*, 28, 32–49.
- Sharma, S., & Kaur, S. (2014). An introspective of employee engagement: A quantitative content analysis approach. *The IUP Journal of Organizational Behavior*, 8(2), 38–57.
- Shimer, R. (2012). Reassessing the ins and outs of unemployment. *Review of Economic Dynamics*, *15*(2), 127–148. doi:10.1016/j.red.2012.02.001
- Shuck, B., & Reio, T. (2013). Employee engagement and well-being: A moderation model and implications for practice. *Journal of Leadership and Organizational Studies*, 21(1), 43–58. doi:10.1177/1548051813494240
- Siddiqi, M. (2013). Examining work engagement as a precursor to turnover intentions of service employees. *International Journal of Information, Business and Management, 5*(4), 118–132.
- Siedman, E. (1977). Why not qualitative analysis? *Public Administration Review*, *37*, 415–417.
- Sinha, A. (2012). Business communication: The mainstay of an efficient business. *The IUP Journal of Soft Skills, 6*(1), 8–15.
- Smith, B. (2012). Organic integration: The natural process underlying communication integration. *Journal of Communication Management*, 16(1), 4–19. doi:10.1108/13632541211198012

- Smith, J., & Firth, J. (2011). Qualitative data analysis: The framework approach. *Nurse researcher*, *18*(2), 52–62. doi:10.7748/nr2011.01.18.2.52.c8284
- Stavros, C., & Westberg, K. (2009). Using triangulation and multiple case studies to advance relationship marketing theory. *Qualitative Market Research: An International Journal, 12*(3), 307–320. doi:10.1108/13522750910963827
- Taylor, J., Dossick, C., & Garvin, M. (2011). Meeting the burden of case study research. Journal of Construction Engineering & Management, 137, 303–311. doi:10.1061/(ASCE)CO.1943-7862.0000283
- Thomas, J. R., Silverman, S., & Nelson, J. (2015). *Research Methods in Physical Activity, (7<sup>th</sup> ed.).* Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.
- Tillott, S., Walsh, K., & Moxham, L. (2013). Encouraging engagement at work to improve retention. *Nursing Management*, 19(10), 27–31. doi:10.7748/nm2013.03.19.10.27.e697
- Timmermans, S., & Tavory, I. (2012). Theory construction in qualitative research from grounded theory to abductive analysis. *Sociological Theory*, *30*(3), 167–186. doi:10.1177/0735275112457914
- Timmins, F. (2011). Managers' duty to maintain good workplace communications skills. *Nursing Management, 18*(3), 30–34. doi:10.7748/nm2011.06.18.3.30.c8538

Tracy, S. (2013). Qualitative research methods. UK: Wiley-Blackwell.

Trotter R.T., II (2012). Qualitative research sample design and sample size: Resolving and unresolved issues and inferential imperatives. *Preventive Medicine*, 55(5), 398–400.

- Tufford, L., & Newman, P. (2012). Bracketing in qualitative research. *Qualitative Social Work, 11*(1), 80–96. doi:10.1177/1473325010368316
- Tuss, C., Shantz, A., Soane, E., Alfes, K., & Delbridge, R. (2013). Employee engagement, organizational performance and individual well-being: Exploring the evidence, developing the theory. *The International Journal of Human Resource Management, 24*, 2657–2669. doi:10.1080/09585192.2013.798921
- Uusi-Rauva, C., & Nurkka, J. (2010). Effective internal environment-related communication: An employee perspective. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 15(3), 299–314.
- Van Maanen, J. (1979). The fact of fiction in organizational ethnography. Administrative Science Quarterly, 24, 539–550.

Veil, S., & Husted, R. (2012). Best practices as an assessment for crisis communication. *Journal of Communication Management*, 16(2),131–145. doi:10.1108/13632541211217560

- Venkatesh, V., Brown, S. A., & Bala, H. (2013). Bridging the qualitative-quantitative divide: Guidelines for conducting mixed methods research in information systems. *MIS Quarterly*, 37(1), 21–54.
- Voinea, D. V., Busu, O. V., Opran, E. R., & Vladutescu, S. (2015). Embarrassments in managerial communication. *Polish Journal of Management Studies*, 11(2), 171– 180.
- von Bertalanffy, L. (1950). An outline of general systems theory. *British Journal for the Philosophy of Science*, *1*, 134–165. doi:10.1093/bjps/I.2.134

Wahyuni, D. (2012). The research design maze: Understanding paradigms, cases, methods and methodologies. *Journal of Applied Management Accounting Research*, 10(1), 69–80.

Waldeck, J., Durante, C., Helmuth, B., & Marcia, B. (2012). Communication in a changing world: Contemporary perspectives on business communication competence. *Journal of Education for Business*, *87*, 230–240. doi:10.1080/08832323.2011.608388

- Walker, J. (2012). The use of saturation in qualitative research. *Canadian Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*, *22*(2), 37–46.
- Wang, D., & Hsieh, C. (2013). The effect of authentic leadership on employee trust and employee engagement. Social Behavior and Personality: An International Journal, 41, 613–624. doi:10.2224/sbp.2013.41.4.613
- Welch, M. (2011). The evolution of the employee engagement concept: Communication implications. *Corporate Communications: An International Journal*, 16, 328–346. doi:10.1108/13563281111186968
- Wertz, F. J. (2015). Methods, Historical Development, and Applications in Psychology. West Sussex, UK: Wiley Blackwell.
- Whittemore, R., Chase, S. K., & Mandle, C. L. (2001). Validity in qualitative research. *Qualitative health research*, 11(4), 522–537. doi: 10.1177/104973201129119299
- Wisdom, J. P., Cavaleri, M. A., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Green, C. A. (2012). Methodological reporting in qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods health

services research articles. *Health Services Research*, *47*(2), 721–745. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6773.2011.01344.x

- Wright, B., & Ogbuehi, A. (2014). Surveying adolescents: The impact of data collection methodology on response quality. *Electronic Journal of Business Research Methods*, 12(1), 41–53.
- Yeatman, S., Trinitapoli, J., & Hayford, S. (2013). Limitations of clinic-based studies on HIV and fertility preferences. *American Journal of Public Health*, 101(6), 5. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2013.301333
- Yin, R. (2014). Case study research: Design and methods (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA:Sage Publications.
- Yong, M., Nasterback, M., Pluto, R., Lang, S., & Oberlinner, C. (2013). Occupational stress perception and its potential impact on work ability. *Work*, 46, 347–354. doi:10.3233/WOR-121556
- Zivkovic, J. (2012). Strength and weaknesses of business research methodologies: Two disparate case studies. *Business Studies Journal*, *4*(2), 91–99.

## Appendix A: Interview Questions

## **Employee Questions**

- 1. Based on your personal experiences, how do you think employees within your organization communicate effectively?
- 2. Based on your personal experiences, how would you describe effective communication between an employee and their immediate supervisor within your organization?
- How has positive communication between you and your immediate supervisor affected your engagement at work? Please provide an example.
- 4. Does increased communication and/or interaction with your immediate supervisor influence your engagement at work? How?
- 5. What other ways has communication with your supervisor affected your engagement at work?

## Manager Questions

- 1. Based on your personal experiences, how do you think employees within your organization communicate effectively?
- 2. Based on your personal experiences, how would you describe effective communication between a manager and their employee(s) within your organization?
- How has positive communication between you and your employee(s) affected your engagement at work? Please provide an example.

- Does increased communication and/or interaction with your employee(s) influence your engagement at work? How?
- 5. What other ways has communication with your employee(s) affected your engagement at work?